
Financial review

Successful effort method (SEM)   
Effective January 1, 2016, management elected to change 
the criterion to recognize exploration expenses adopting the 
successful-effort-method (SEM). The successful-effort method is 
largely adopted by oil&gas companies, to which Eni is increasingly 
comparable given the recent re-focalization of the Group activities 
on its core upstream business. In accordance to IAS 8 “Accounting 
policies, Changes in accounting estimates and Errors”, the 
SEM application is a voluntary change in accounting policy 
explained by the alignment with an accounting standard largely 
adopted by oil&gas companies and as such it has been applied 
retrospectively.
Under the SEM, geological and geophysical exploration costs 
are recognized as an expense as incurred. Costs directly 
associated with an exploration well are initially capitalized as an 
unproved tangible asset until the drilling of the well is complete 
and the results have been evaluated. If commercially viable 
quantities of hydrocarbons are not found, the exploration well 
costs are written off. If hydrocarbons are found and, subject to 
further appraisal activity, are likely to be capable of commercial 
development, the costs continue to be carried as an unproved 
asset. If it is determined that development will not occur then 
the costs are expensed. Costs directly associated with appraisal 
activity undertaken to determine the size, characteristics and 
commercial potential of a reservoir following the initial discovery 
of hydrocarbons are initially capitalized as an unproved tangible 
asset. When proved reserves of oil and natural gas are determined 
and development is approved by management, the relevant 
expenditure is transferred to proved property. 
The retrospective application of the SEM has required adjustment 
of the opening balance of several items as of January 1, 2014. 
Specifically, the opening balance of the carrying amount of 
property, plant and equipment was increased by €3,524 million, 
intangible assets by €860 million and the retained earnings by 
€3,001 million. Other adjustments related to deferred tax liabilities 
and other minor line items.
Referring to the full year 2015, the adoption of SEM resulted in 
lower operating profit (down by €815 million) due to the accrual 
of impairment of capitalized exploration costs and the write-off of 
suspended exploration projects due to changes in hydrocarbon 
price scenario. Considering these special items, Group adjusted 
operating profit for 2015 increased to €4,178 million, from €4,104 
million recorded before SEM accounting. 
More details are available on the “Basis of presentation” in the 
“Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”.

Continuing and discontinued operations 
In relation to the Engineering & Construction segment classified 
as asset held for sale in the 2015 consolidated financial 
statements, on January 22, 2016 Eni closed the sale of a 
12.503% stake in the entity to CDP Equity SpA, for a consideration 

of €463 million. Concurrently, a shareholder agreement between 
Eni and CDP Equity SpA entered into force, which established 
the joint control of the two parties over the target entity. Those 
transactions triggered loss of control of Eni over Saipem. 
Therefore, effective January 1, 2016, Eni deconsolidated the 
assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses of Saipem from 
the consolidated accounts. The retained interest of 30.55% in the 
former subsidiary has been recognized as an investment in an 
equity-accounted joint venture with an initial carrying amount 
aligned to the share price at the closing date of the transaction 
(€4.2 per share, equal to €564 million) recognizing a loss 
through profit of €441 million. This loss has been recognized in 
the Group consolidated accounts for 2016 as part of gains and 
losses of the discontinued operations. Considering the share 
capital increase of Saipem, which was subscribed pro-quota 
by Eni at the same time as the aforementioned transactions 
(for an overall amount of €1,069 million), the initial carrying 
amount of the interest retained amounts to €1,614 million, 
which becomes the cost on initial recognition of the investment 
in Saipem for the subsequent application of equity accounting. 
Saipem reimbursed intercompany loans owed to Eni (€5,818 
million as of December 31, 2015) by using the proceeds from the 
share capital increase and new credit facilities from third-party 
financing institutions.

In this financial statement, adjusted results from continuing 
operations of 2015 are reported on a standalone basis, thus 
excluding Saipem’s results. A corresponding alternative 
performance measure has been presented for the net cash 
flow from operating activities. The net result of discontinued 
operations for the year 2016 only comprised a loss recognized 
to align the book value of the Eni’s residual interest in Saipem to 
its share price at January 22, 2016. This date marked the loss 
of control of Eni over Saipem, following the sale of a 12.503% 
interest to CDP Equity and the concurrent entering into force 
of the shareholder agreement between the parties. For further 
information, see the reconciliations and the explanatory notes 
furnished in the paragraph “Alternative performance measures” 
in the subsequent pages.

Due to termination of negotiations with US-based SK Capital hedge 
fund, to divest a 70% interest in Versalis SpA, as disclosed in the 
press release dated June 21, 2016, Eni’s chemical business is no 
longer qualified as a disposal group held for sale. Therefore, Eni’s 
consolidated accounts as of and for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2016, have been prepared accounting this business 
as part of the continuing operations.
Based on IFRS 5 provisions, in case a disposal group ceases to 
be classified as held for sale, management is required to amend 
financial statements retrospectively as if the disposal group has 
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never been qualified as held for sale. Accordingly, the opening 
balance of the consolidated accounts of 2016 has been amended 
to reinstate the criteria of the continuing use to evaluate Versalis. 
This adjustment to the Versalis evaluation increased the opening 
balance of Eni’s consolidated net assets by €294 million and 
was neutral on the Group’s net financial position. In presenting 
the Group’s consolidated results, Versalis assets and liabilities 
and revenues and expenses have been recorded line-by-line in 
the Group accounts. Results of the comparative periods have 
been reclassified accordingly. In the Group segment information, 
Versalis results have been reported as part of the R&M and 
Chemical segment because a single manager is accountable 
for the performance at both operating segments and the two 
segments exhibit similar economic characteristics.

2016 results
Eni reported a net loss from continuing operations of €1,051 
million for the FY2016, which far lower than the €7,952 million 
loss recorded in 2015. 
This improvement mainly reflects a mild recovery that has been 
staging in oil markets from the second half of the year. Better 
market fundamentals were factored in the upward revision to 
management’s long-term assumption for the benchmark Brent 
price to $70 per barrel from the previous $65, which has been 
adopted in the financial projections of the 2017-2020 industrial 
plan. This revision triggered asset revaluations of €1,005 
million post-tax at oil&gas properties, which were absorbed by 
impairment losses due to a lowered outlook for gas prices in 
Europe and other drivers, as well as other non-recurring charges 
for an overall negative impact of €831 million. 
On the contrary, the FY 2015 result was negatively affected by 
the recognition of special charges of €8.5 billion. Those comprised 
impairment losses of upstream asset (€3.9 billion) and the write-

off of deferred tax assets for €1.8 billion due to a lowered outlook 
for oil prices. Furthermore, the year-ago charges included the 
impairment of the Chemical business (€1 billion) whose carrying 
amount was aligned to the expected fair value based on a sale 
transaction then ongoing designed to established an industrial 
joint venture, as well as other extraordinary charges of €1.8 billion 
mainly in the G&P segment.

Still, 2016 underlying performance was negatively affected by a 
continued slump in commodity prices mainly in first half of the 
year which determined y-o-y declines in crude oil prices (down 
by 16.7%, from 52.5 $/b reported in 2015, to 43.7 $/b in 2016), 
in gas prices (down by 28.2%) and in refining margins (down 
by 49.4%). These declines drove a 23% reduction in the Group 
consolidated turnover. In addition the performance was affected 
by a four and half-month shutdown of the Val d’Agri oil complex 
in Italy. Management implemented a number of initiatives to 
withstand the negative scenario including tight investment 
selection, with capex down by 19% y-o-y at constant exchange 
rates, control of E&P operating expenses (down by 14%), 
optimizations of plant setup at refineries and chemical plants, 
savings on energy consumptions and logistic costs and G&A 
cuts. All these measures improved EBIT by around €1.7 billion. 
Finally, income taxes declined by €1,186 million due to the 
above mentioned extraordinary drivers.  The tax rate has been 
affected by the high relative incidence on taxable profit recorded 
in the first three quarters of 2016 of results under 
PSA schemes, which are characterized by higher-than-average 
rates of taxes.

Group net loss pertaining to Eni’s shareholders amounted 
to €1,464 million, which included a loss in the discontinued 
operations of €413 million relating to the impairment taken to 
align the book value of Eni’s retained interest in Saipem to its 
fair value, equal to the market capitalization at the date of loss 
of control (January 22, 2016) with a charge of €441 million.

Adjusted results

2014 (€ million) 2015 2016 Change % Ch.

12,337 Adjusted operating profit (loss) - continuing operations 5,708 2,315 (3,393) (59.4)

(1,114) Reinstatement of intercompany transactions vs. discontinued operations (1,222)

11,223 Adjusted operating profit (loss) - continuing operations on a standalone basis 4,486 2,315 (2,171) (48.4)

 

1,720 Net profit (loss) attributable to Eni’s shareholders - continuing operations (7,952) (1,051) 6,901 86.8

1,008 Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 782 (120)

1,471 Exclusion of special items 8,487 831

4,199 Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni’s shareholders - continuing operations 1,317 (340) (1,657) ..

(476) Reinstatement of intercompany transactions vs. discontinued operations (514)

3,723 Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni’s shareholders on a standalone basis 803 (340) (1,143) ..

65.9 Tax rate (%) 82.4 120.6
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2014 (€ million) 2015 2016 Change % Ch.

4,569 Exploration & Production 991 508 (483) (48.7)

86 Gas & Power (168) (330) (162) (96.4)

(319) Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 512 419 (93) (18.2)

(852) Corporate and other activities (663) (991) (328) (49.5)

1,255 Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination(a) 1,250 61 (1,189)

4,739 Adjusted  net profit (loss) - continuing operations 1,922 (333) (2,255) ..

attributable to:

540 - non-controlling interest 605 7 (598)

4,199 - Eni’s shareholders 1,317 (340) (1,657) ..

(476) Reinstatement of intercompany transactions vs. discontinued operations (514)

3,723 Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni’s shareholders on a standalone basis 803 (340) (1,143) ..

(a) This item concerned mainly intragroup sales of commodities, services and capital goods recorded in the assets of the purchasing business segment as of end of the period.		
				  

The breakdown of the adjusted net profit is shown in the table below:

In 2016, adjusted operating profit was €2,315 million, representing 
a decrease of €2,171 million, down by 48.4% y-o-y. The decline 
reflected a lower commodity price environment with a negative 
effect of €3.3 billion, while the Val d’Agri shutdown and lower non-
recurring gains in G&P weighted for €0.6 billion. These negatives 
were partly offset by production growth in other areas, efficiency 
gains and a reduced cost base for €1.7 billion, mainly in the E&P 
segment.

Special items of the operating profit were net charges of €333 
million and mainly related to: 
(i)	 asset revaluations of €1,440 million at oil&gas properties 

mainly reflecting the upward revision to management’s 
long-term assumption for the benchmark Brent price to $70 
per barrel from the previous $65 adopted in the financial 
projections of the 2017-2020 industrial plan;

(ii)	 impairment of gas properties in the upstream segment driven 
by the impact of a lowered price scenario in Europe and other 
oil&gas properties due to contractual changes, reserves 
revision as well as a higher country risk (overall amount  
of €756 million); 

(iii)	 the write down of capital expenditure relating to certain Cash 
Generating Units in the R&M and Chemicals segment, which 
were impaired in previous reporting periods (€104 million);

(iv)	 the write-off of the damaged units of the EST conversion plant 
at the Sannazzaro refinery, following the incident occurred  
in December 2016 and a provision for removal and clean-up 
(for an overall amount of €217 million) partially offset  
by a compensation gain on part of a third-party insurer  
(€122 million); 

(v)	 environmental provisions (€193 million); 
(vi)	 the effects of fair-valued commodity derivatives that lacked 

the formal criteria to be accounted as hedges under IFRS 
(gains of €427 million); 

(vii)	 exchange rate differences and derivatives reclassified  
to adjusted operating profit (charges of €19 million); 

(viii)	 risk provisions (€152 million); 
(ix)	 other charges (€850 million) mainly relating to the 

impairment of certain receivables under negotiation in the 

E&P segment owed by certain NOCs, due to the expected 
outcome of ongoing negotiations. 

Non-operating special items of the year comprised:
-	 Continuing operations
•	 the impairment of certain entities accounted for at the equity 

method in the E&P segment driven by the financial downturn in 
certain countries (€236 million);

•	 the item income taxes including in addition to the tax effects of 
special gains/charges in operating profit, a gain relating to the 
reversal of deferred tax assets written down in previous reporting 
periods (€121 million), as well as utilization of deferred tax 
liabilities due to certain changes in tax regulations in the United 
Kingdom and Norway (€28 million) and to the impairment of 
certain receivables under negotiation in the E&P segment owed 
by certain NOCs to reflect expected outcome of certain ongoing 
negotiations;	

•	 a write-off of deferred tax assets at Italian companies 
(approximately €170 million) due to a changed outlook of future 
taxable earnings, mainly due to the gas scenario;

•	 an impairment loss recorded at Eni’s interest in Saipem, 
accounted for by the equity method and subsequent to 
establishment of Eni’s joint control over the investee. The loss 
reflected the outcome of the impairment review and other 
extraordinary charges incurred by Saipem, based on the changed 
financial projections of new strategic plan announced by the 
entity on October 25, 2016 (Eni’s share of €163 million).

-	 Discontinued operations
•	 special items of discontinued operations included a loss of €441 

million attributable to the impairment of the net book value of the 
interest retained in Saipem to align with the market capitalization 
of the investee at the date of the loss of control.

Adjusted net loss for the FY2016 amounted to €0.34 billion, lower 
by €1.14 billion from the adjusted net profit of 2015 (€0.8 billion). 
This was due to a lowered operating performance, declining results 
from equity-accounted entities reflecting a weaker scenario and a 
higher tax rate (up by 38 percentage points). This latter reflected: (i) 
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the recording of a tax rate as high as 100% in the first nine months 
of the year due to the oil downturn, which determined a larger, 
relative weight of taxable profit earned under PSA schemes, which 
are characterized by higher-than-average rates of taxes; (ii) the 
classification as special items of the reversals of certain deferred tax 
assets, which were written down in the previous reporting period.

Results by business segments
Exploration & Production
In 2016, the Exploration & Production segment reported an adjusted 
operating profit of €2,494 million, down by 40.4% y-o-y. The €1,688 
million decline mainly reflected a weaker commodity environment, 
with the marker Brent down by 16.7% and declining gas prices in 
Europe and the United States. Profit for the year was also negatively 
affected by the Val d’Agri shutdown, which lasted four months and 
half. These effects were only partially offset by higher production in 
other areas and lower operating expenses and DD&A. This latter was 
due to lower capital expenditure and the reduction in the carrying 
amounts of oil&gas properties following the material impairment 
losses booked last year (€5,212 million).
Adjusted operating profit excluded a positive adjustment of €73 
million and related to asset revaluations of €1,440 million at 
oil&gas properties driven by an upward revision to management’s 
long-term assumption for the benchmark Brent price to $70 per 
barrel from the previous $65 adopted in the financial projections 
of the 2017-2020 industrial plan. These were absorbed by: (i) 
impairment losses of gas properties driven by a lowered price 
outlook in Europe and other oil&gas properties due to contractual 
changes, reserves revision and a higher country risk (overall 
amount of €756 million); and (ii) other charges of €461 million 
mainly relating to the impairment of certain overdue receivables 
owed by national oil companies due to the expected outcome 
of ongoing negotiations. The recognition of those receivables 
as deductible items for tax purposes resulted in the reversal of 
unused deferred tax liabilities of €380 million.

For the FY2016, adjusted net profit amounted to €508 million, a 
decline of €483 million, or 48.7%, from 2015 due to a lower operating 
performance.

In 2016, taxes paid represented approximately 32% of the cash flow 
from operating activities of the E&P segment before changes in 
working capital and income taxes paid.

Gas & Power
In 2016, the Gas & Power segment reported an adjusted operating 
loss of €390 million, down by €264 million y-o-y.This reflected lower 
margins on LNG sales and higher one-off benefits from contracts 
renegotiations reported in 2015, partly offset by logistic costs 
optimizations and better performance in trading activities. The 
retail segment reported lower results due to unusual winter weather 
conditions. 
Adjusted operating loss excluded a loss on stock of €90 million 
and net special gains of €89 million. Special gains comprised the 
effects of the fair-value evaluation of certain commodity derivatives 

lacking the formal criteria to be accounted as hedges under IFRS 
(gains of €443 million), a downward revision of revenues accrued 
on the sale of gas and power for past reporting periods, resulting 
from the restructuring plan launched in 2015 (€161 million), the 
impairment loss of certain assets due to the increased country risk 
and the weakness of the scenario (€81 million). Adjusted operating 
result included a negative balance of €19 million of exchange rate 
differences and derivatives. 

In the full year, the Gas & Power segment reported an adjusted net 
loss of €330 million due to the reduction of operating performance.

Refining & Marketing and Chemicals
In 2016, the Refining & Marketing and Chemicals segment reported 
an adjusted operating profit of €583 million, declining by €112 
million from the previous year. 

The Refining & Marketing business reported an adjusted operating 
profit of €278 million, down by €109 million, or 28.2% compared to 
2015. This decline was driven by an unfavorable refining margin 
scenario (the Eni’s standard refining margin – SERM – was down 
by 49.4% to 4.2 $/bbl in 2016 from 8.3 $/bbl in 2015), as well as, 
the scheduled  maintenance activities at certain refineries. The 
refining break-even margin improved to 4.2 $/bbl, better than 
the planned target of 4.5 $/bbl. These negatives were partly 
offset by improved plant optimization and efficiency. Moreover, 
marketing recorded lower results reflecting weaker margins 
due to stronger competitive pressure and the subsidiaries 
disposal in Slovenia and Hungary.

The Chemical business reported an adjusted operating profit of 
€305 million, almost unchanged y-o-y, due to an unfavorable 
trading environment, which hit commodity margins, mainly in 
feedstocks, polyethylenes and styrenics, and competitive pressure. 
The result also reflected  lower products availability following 
unplanned shutdowns. 

These negatives were offset by efficiency actions implemented 
in previous years and reduction in depreciation due to the asset 
impairment recorded in 2015 to align assets book value to their fair 
value.

Special charges excluded from adjusted operating profit amounted 
to a net positive of €266 million. This included impairment losses 
to write down capital expenditure of the period at assets impaired 
in previous reporting periods (€104 million), environmental 
charges (€104 million) as well as fair-value evaluation of certain 
commodity derivatives (charges of €3 million) lacking the formal 
criteria to be accounted as hedges under IFRS. Furthermore, special 
charges include the write-off related to the EST conversion plant, at 
Sannazzaro Refinery, affected by the event occurred in December 
2016, and the environmental provision for removal and clean-up 
(a total amount of €217 million), partially offset by the insurance 
compensation paid by third parties which was recognized virtually 
certain at the closing date (€122 million).

Adjusted net profit of €419 million reduced by €93 million reflecting 
the operating performance.
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In 2016, capital expenditure amounted to €9,180 million 
(€10,741 million in 2015) and mainly related to:

-	 development activities (€7,770 million) deployed mainly 
in Egypt, Angola, Kazakhstan, Indonesia, Iraq, Ghana and 
Norway. Development expenditures in Italy also comprised 
the upgrading of certain plants at the Viggiano oil center in 
Val d’Agri, which did not alter the plant set-up. This upgrading 
addressed certain objections made by jurisdictional 
Authorities about the proper function of the plants and 
were duly authorized by the in-charge department of the 
Italian Ministry of Economic Development. Due to this 
upgrading, plant activities were regularly restarted following 
notification by the public prosecutor that it has definitively 
repealed the plant seizure. Exploration activities (€417 
million) were mainly concentrated in  Egypt, Indonesia, 
Libya and Angola;

- 	 refining activity in Italy and outside Italy (€298 million) 
related mainly to asset integrity, as well as initiatives in the 
field of health, security and environment; marketing activity, 
mainly regulation compliance and stay in business initiatives 
in the refined product retail network in Italy and in the Rest of 
Europe (€123 million);

-	 initiatives relating to gas marketing (€69 million) as well as 
initiatives to improve flexibility and upgrade combined-cycle 
power plants (€41 million).

2014 (€ million) 2015 2016 Change % Ch.

10,156 Exploration & Production 9,980 8,254 (1,726) (17.3)

-  acquisition of proved and unproved properties  2

1,030 -  exploration 566 417

9,021 - development 9,341 7,770

105 -  other expenditure 73 65   

172 Gas & Power 154 120 (34) (22.1)

819 Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 628 664 36 5.7

537 -  Refining & Marketing 408 421 13 3.2

282 -  Chemicals 220 243 23 10.5

113 Corporate and other activities 64 55 (9) (14.1)

(82) Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination (85) 87 172 ..

11,178 Capital expenditure - continuing operations 10,741 9,180 (1,561) (14.5)

694 Capital expenditure - discontinued operations 561  (561)  

11,872 Capital expenditure 11,302 9,180 (2,122) (18.8)

Capital expenditure

Sources and uses of cash
In the FY2016, net cash provided by operating activities amounted 
to €7,673 million. Proceeds from disposals were €1,054 million and 
mainly related to the 12.503% interest in Saipem (€463 million), 
an interest in Snam due to exercise of the conversion right by 
bondholders (€332 million) as well as fuel distribution activities in 
the Eastern Europe. Following the closing of the Saipem transaction, 
Eni was reimbursed of intercompany loans due by Saipem 
amounting to €5,818 million. 
These inflows funded part of the financial requirements for capital 
expenditure for the year (€9,180 million, of which €500 million will be 
reimbursed with the disposal of 40% interest in Zohr), the payment of 
Eni’s 2015 balance dividend and the 2016 interim dividend (€2,881 
million), and finally the amount cashed out to subscribe the share 
capital increase of Saipem (€1,069 million). Capital expenditure 
decreased by 19% vs 2015 at constant exchange rates, including Eni’s 
capital contributions to joint-ventures, as planned.
The normalized cash flow from operating activities was €8.3 
billion calculated by excluding the negative effect of the Val d’Agri 
shutdown (€0.2 billion), a reclassification of certain receivables 
for investing activities to trading receivables (€0.3 billion), while 
including changes in working capital due to the sale of Zohr 
(€0.1 billion). This normalized cash flow funded for over 90% the 
capex of the year, reduced from €9.2 billion to €8.7 billion when 
deducting the expected reimbursement of past capex related to the 
divestment of a 40% interest in the Zohr project (€0.5 billion).
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Profit and loss account

2014 (€ million) 2015 2016 Change % Ch.

98,218 Net sales from operations 72,286 55,762 (16,524) (22.9)

1,079 Other income and revenues 1,252 931 (321) (25.6)

(80,333) Operating expenses (59,967) (47,118) 12,849 21.4

145 Other operating income (expense) (485) 16 501 ..

(7,676) Depreciation, depletion, amortization (8,940) (7,559) 1,381 15.4

(1,270) Impairment losses (impairments reversals), net (6,534) 475 7,009 ..

(1,198) Write-off (688) (350) 338 49.1

8,965 Operating profit (loss) (3,076) 2,157 5,233 ..

(1,167) Finance income (expense) (1,306) (885) 421 32.2

476 Net income (expense) from investments 105 (380) (485) ..

8,274 Profit (loss) before income taxes (4,277) 892 5,169 ..

(6,466) Income taxes (3,122) (1,936) 1,186 38.0

78.1 Tax rate (%) .. ..

1,808 Net profit (loss) - continuing operations (7,399) (1,044) 6,355 85.9

(949) Net profit (loss) - discontinued operations (1,974) (413) 1,561

859 Net profit (loss) (9,373) (1,457) 7,916 84.5

attributable to:  

1,303  - Eni’s shareholders (8,778) (1,464) 7,314 83.3

1,720 - continuing operations (7,952) (1,051) 6,901 86.8

(417) - discontinued operations (826) (413) 413 50.0

(444)  - Non-controlling interest (595) 7 602 ..

88 - continuing operations 553 7 (546) (98.7)

(532) - discontinued operations (1,148)  1,148 ..
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Management evaluates underlying business performance on the 
basis of Non-GAAP financial measures under IFRS (“Alternative 
performance measures”), such as adjusted operating profit and 
adjusted net profit, which are arrived at by excluding inventory 
holding gains or losses, special items and, in determining the 
business segments’ adjusted results, finance charges on finance 
debt and interest income. The adjusted operating profit of each 
business segment reports gains and losses on derivative financial 
instruments entered into to manage exposure to movements 
in foreign currency exchange rates which affect industrial 
margins and translation of commercial payables and receivables. 
Accordingly, also currency translation effects recorded through 
profit and loss are reported within business segments’ adjusted 
operating profit. The taxation effect of the items excluded from 
adjusted operating or net profit is determined based on the 
specific rate of taxes applicable to each of them. 
Management includes them in order to facilitate a comparison of 
base business performance across periods, and to allow financial 
analysts to evaluate Eni’s trading performance on the basis of 
their forecasting models. Non-GAAP financial measures should be 
read together with information determined by applying IFRS and 
do not stand in for them. Other companies may adopt different 
methodologies to determine Non-GAAP measures.

Follows the description of the main alternative performance 
measures adopted by Eni. The measures reported below refer to 
the actual performance:  

Adjusted operating and net profit
Adjusted operating and net profit are determined by excluding 
inventory holding gains or losses, special items and, in 
determining the business segments’ adjusted results, finance 
charges on finance debt and interest income. The adjusted 
operating profit of each business segment reports gains and 
losses on derivative financial instruments entered into to manage 
exposure to movements in foreign currency exchange rates which 
impact industrial margins and translation of commercial payables 
and receivables. Accordingly, also currency translation effects 
recorded through profit and loss are reported within business 
segments’ adjusted operating profit. The taxation effect of the 
items excluded from adjusted operating or net profit is determined 
based on the specific rate of taxes applicable to each of them. 
Finance charges or income related to net borrowings excluded 
from the adjusted net profit of business segments are comprised 
of interest charges on finance debt and interest income earned 
on cash and cash equivalents not related to operations. Therefore, 
the adjusted net profit of business segments includes finance 
charges or income deriving from certain segment operated 
assets, i.e., interest income on certain receivable financing and 

securities related to operations and finance charge pertaining 
to the accretion of certain provisions recorded on a discounted 
basis (as in the case of the asset retirement obligations in the 
Exploration & Production segment).

Inventory holding gain or loss 
This is the difference between the cost of sales of the volumes 
sold in the period based on the cost of supplies of the same 
period and the cost of sales of the volumes sold calculated using 
the weighted average cost method of inventory accounting as 
required by IFRS.

Special items
These include certain significant income or charges pertaining to 
either: (i) infrequent or unusual events and transactions, being 
identified as non-recurring items under such circumstances; 
(ii) certain events or transactions which are not considered to 
be representative of the ordinary course of business, as in the 
case of environmental provisions, restructuring charges, asset 
impairments or write ups and gains or losses on divestments 
even though they occurred in past periods or are likely to occur 
in future ones; or (iii) exchange rate differences and derivatives 
relating to industrial activities and commercial payables and 
receivables, particularly exchange rate derivatives to manage 
commodity pricing formulas which are quoted in a currency other 
than the functional currency. Those items are reclassified in 
operating profit with a corresponding adjustment to net finance 
charges, notwithstanding the handling of foreign currency 
exchange risks is made centrally by netting off naturally-
occurring opposite positions and then dealing with any residual 
risk exposure in the exchange rate market.
As provided for in Decision No. 15519 of July 27, 2006 of the Italian 
market regulator (CONSOB), non-recurring material income or 
charges are to be clearly reported in the management’s discussion 
and financial tables. Also, special items allow to allocate to future 
reporting periods gains and losses on re-measurement at fair 
value of certain non hedging commodity derivatives and exchange 
rate derivatives relating to commercial exposures, lacking the 
criteria to be designed as hedges, including the ineffective portion 
of cash flow hedges and certain derivative financial instruments 
embedded in the pricing formula of long-term gas supply 
agreements of the Exploration & Production segment.

Adjusted operating profit, adjusted net profit and cash flow from 
operating activities on a standalone basis
Considering the significant impact of the discontinued operations 
in the comparative reporting periods of 2015, management used 
an adjusted performance measures calculated on a standalone 
basis. This Non-GAAP measure excludes as usual the items “profit/

Non-GAAP measures
Alternative performance measures 
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loss on stock” and extraordinary gains and losses (special items), 
while it reinstates the effects relating to the elimination of gains 
and losses on intercompany transactions with the Engineering & 
Construction segment which, as of December 31, 2015, was in the 
disposal phase, represented as discontinued operations under the 
IFRS5. These measures obtain a representation of the performance 
of the continuing operations which anticipates the effect of the 
derecognition of the discontinued operations. Namely: adjusted 
operating profit, adjusted net profit and cash flow from operating 
activities on a standalone basis.

Profit per boe 
Measures the return per oil and natural gas per barrel produced. It 
is calculated as the ratio between Results of operations from E&P 
activities (as defined by FASB Extractive Activities - oil&gas Topic 
932) and production sold.

Opex per boe 
Measures efficiency in the oil&gas development activities, 
calculated as the ratio between operating costs (as defined by 
FASB Extractive Activities - oil&gas Topic 932) and production sold.

Finding & Development cost per boe
Represents Finding & Development cost per boe of new proved 
or possible reserves. It is calculated as the overall amount of 
exploration and development expenditure, the consideration 
for the acquisition of possible and probable reserves as well as 
additions of proved reserves deriving from improved recovery, 
extensions, discoveries and revisions of previous estimates 
(as defined by FASB Extractive Activities - oil&gas Topic 932).

Leverage
Leverage is a Non-GAAP measure of the Company’s financial 
condition, calculated as the ratio between net borrowings and 
shareholders’ equity, including non-controlling interest. Leverage 
is the reference ratio to assess the solidity and efficiency of the 
Group balance sheet in terms of incidence of funding sources 
including third-party funding and equity as well as to carry out 
benchmark analysis with industry standards.

ROACE (Return On Average Capital Employed) 
Is the return on average capital invested, calculated as the ratio 
between net income before minority interests, plus net financial 
charges on net financial debt, less the related tax effect and net 
average capital employed.

Free cash flow
Free cash flow represents the link existing between changes in 
cash and cash equivalents (deriving from the statutory cash flows 
statement) and in net borrowings (deriving from the summarized 
cash flow statement) that occurred from the beginning of the period 
to the end of period. Free cash flow is the cash in excess of capital 
expenditure needs. Starting from free cash flow it is possible to 
determine either: (i) changes in cash and cash equivalents for the 
period by adding/deducting cash flows relating to financing debts/
receivables (issuance/repayment of debt and receivables related 
to financing activities), shareholders’ equity (dividends paid, net 
repurchase of own shares, capital issuance) and the effect of 
changes in consolidation and of exchange rate differences; (ii) 
changes in net borrowings for the period by adding/deducting cash 
flows relating to shareholders’ equity and the effect of changes in 
consolidation and of exchange rate differences. 

Net borrowings
Net borrowings is calculated as total finance debt less cash, 
cash equivalents and certain very liquid investments not related 
to operations, including among others non-operating financing 
receivables and securities not related to operations. 
Financial activities are qualified as “not related to operations” 
when these are not strictly related to the business operations.  

Coverage 
Financial discipline ratio, calculated as the ratio between 
operating profit and net finance charges.

Current ratio 
Measures the capability of the company to repay short-term 
debt, calculated as the ratio between current assets and current 
liabilities.

Debt coverage 
Rating companies use the debt coverage ratio to evaluate debt 
sustainability. It is calculated as the ratio between net cash 
provided by operating activities and net borrowings, less cash 
and cash-equivalents, Securities held for non-operating purposes 
and financing receivables for non operating purposes.

The following tables report the group operating profit and Group 
adjusted net profit and their breakdown by segment, as well as is 
represented the reconciliation with net profit attributable to Eni’s 
shareholders of continuing operations.
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Reported operating profit (loss) 2,567 (391) 723 (681) (61) 2,157 2,157

Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 90 (406) 141 (175) (175)

Exclusion of special items:

- environmental charges 1 104 88 193 193

- impairment losses  
  (impairments reversals), net

(684) 81 104 40 (459) (459)

- impairment of exploration projects 7 7 7

- net gains on disposal of assets (2) (8) (10) (10)

- risk provisions 105 17 28 1 151 151

- provision for redundancy incentives 24 4 12 7 47 47

- commodity derivatives 19 (443) (3) (427) (427)

- exchange rate differences and derivatives (3) (19) 3 (19) (19)

- other 461 270 26 93 850 850

Special items of operating profit (loss) (73) (89) 266 229 333 333

Adjusted operating profit (loss) 2,494 (390) 583 (452) 80 2,315 2,315

Net finance (expense) income (a) (55) 6 1 (721) (769) (769)

Net income (expense) from investments (a) 68 (20) 32 (6) 74 74

Income taxes (a) (1,999) 74 (197) 188 (19) (1,953) (1,953)

Tax rate (%) 79.7 .. 32.0 120.6 120.6

Adjusted net profit (loss) 508 (330) 419 (991) 61 (333) (333)

of which attributable to:    

- non-controlling interest 7 7

- Eni’s shareholders (340) (340)

Reported net profit (loss) attributable to Eni’s shareholders (1,464) 413 (1,051)

Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses (120) (120)

Exclusion of special items 1,244 (413) 831

Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni’s shareholders (340) (340)

(a) Excluding special items.
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2015 Discontinued operations
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Reported operating profit (loss) (959) (1,258) (1,567) (497) (694) (23) (4,998) 694 1,228 1,922 (3,076) (4,304)

Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 132 877 127 1,136 1,136 1,136

Exclusion of special items:

   - environmental charges 137 88 225 225 225

   - impairment losses  
     (impairments reversals), net

5,212 152 1,150 20 590 7,124 (590) (590) 6,534 6,534

   - impairment of exploration projects 169 169 169 169

   - net gains on disposal of assets (403) (8) 4 1 (406) (1) (1) (407) (407)

   - risk provisions 226 (5) (10) 211 211 211

   - provision for redundancy incentives 15 6 8 1 12 42 (12) (12) 30 30

   - commodity derivatives 12 90 68 (6) 164 6 (6) 164 170

   - exchange rate differences and derivatives (59) (9) 5 (63) (63) (63)

   - other 195 535 30 25 785 785 785

Special items of operating profit (loss) 5,141 1,000 1,385 128 597 8,251 (597) (6) (603) 7,648 7,654

Adjusted operating profit (loss) 4,182 (126) 695 (369) (97) 104 4,389 97 1,222 1,319 5,708 (1,222) 4,486

Net finance (expense) income(a) (272) 11 (2) (686) (5) (954) 5 24 29 (925) (24) (949)

Net income(expense) from investments(a) 254 (2) 69 285 17 623 (17) (17) 606 606

Income taxes(a) (3,173) (51) (250) 107 (212) (47) (3,626) 212 (53) 159 (3,467) 53 (3,414)

Tax rate (%) 76.2 .. 32.8 .. 89.4 64.3 82.4

Adjusted net profit (loss) 991 (168) 512 (663) (297) 57 432 297 1,193 1,490 1,922 (1,193) 729

of which attributable to:   

- non-controlling interest (243) 848 605 (679) (74)

- Eni’s shareholders 675 642 1,317 (514) 803

Reported net profit (loss) attributable to Eni’s shareholders (8,778) 826 (7,952) (7,952)

Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 782 782 782

Exclusion of special items 8,671 (184) 8,487 8,487

Reinstatement of intercompany transactions vs. discontinued operations (514)

Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni’s shareholders 675 642 1,317 803

(a) Excluding special items.



Financial review

Financial review and other information Eni Integrated Annual Report66

2014 Discontinued operations
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Reported operating profit (loss) 10,727 64 (2,811) (518) 18 398 7,878 (18) 1,105 1,087 8,965 7,860

Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses (119) 1,746 (167) 1,460 1,460 1,460

Exclusion of special items:

- environmental charges 138 41 179 179 179

- impairment losses  
  (impairments reversals), net

853 25 380 14 420 1,692 (420) (420) 1,272 1,272

- net gains on disposal of assets (70) 43 3 2 (22) (2) (2) (24) (24)

- risk provisions (5) (42) 12 25 (10) (25) (25) (35) (35)

- provision for redundancy incentives 24 9 (4) (25) 5 9 (5) (5) 4 4

- commodity derivatives (28) (38) 41 9 (16) (9) 9 (16) (25)

- exchange rate differences and derivatives 6 205 18 229 229 229

- other 172 64 37 30 303 303 303

Special items of operating profit (loss) 952 223 653 75 461 2,364 (461) 9 (452) 1,912 1,903

Adjusted operating profit (loss) 11,679 168 (412) (443) 479 231 11,702 (479) 1,114 635 12,337 (1,114) 11,223

Net finance (expense) income(a) (273) 7 (12) (564) (6) (848) 6 40 46 (802) (40) (842)

Net income(expense) from investments(a) 333 49 64 (156) 21 311 (21) (21) 290 290

Income taxes(a) (7,170) (138) 41 311 (185) (79) (7,220) 185 (51) 134 (7,086) 51 (7,035)

Tax rate (%) 61.1 61.6 .. 37.4 64.7 59.9 65.9

Adjusted net profit (loss) 4,569 86 (319) (852) 309 152 3,945 (309) 1,103 794 4,739 (1,103) 3,636

of which attributable to:

- non-controlling interest 89 451 540 (627) (87)

- Eni’s shareholders 3,856 343 4,199 (476) 3,723

Reported net profit (loss) attributable to Eni’s shareholders 1,303 417 1,720 1,720

Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 1,008 1,008 1,008

Exclusion of special items 1,545 (74) 1,471 1,471

Reinstatement of intercompany transactions vs. discontinued operations (476)

Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni’s shareholders 3,856 343 4,199 3,723

(a) Excluding special items.

	 	
2014 (€ million) 2015 2016 Change

14,742 Net cash provided by operating activities 11,649 7,673 (3,976)

273 Net cash provided by operating activities - discontinued operations (1,226) 1,226

14,469 Net cash provided by operating activities - continuing operations 12,875 7,673 (5,202)

(925) Reinstatement of intercompany transactions vs. discontinued operations (720)

13,544 NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES ON A STANDALONE BASIS 12,155 7,673 (4,482)
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Breakdown of special items (including discontinued operations)	

2014 (€ million) 2015 2016

2,364 Special items of operating profit (loss) 8,251 333

179 - environmental charges 225 193

1,692 - impairment losses (impairments reversals), net 7,124 (459)

- impairment of exploration projects 169 7

(22) - net gains on disposal of assets (406) (10)

(10) - risk provisions 211 151

9 - provision for redundancy incentives 42 47

(16) - commodity derivatives 164 (427)

229 - exchange rate differences and derivatives (63) (19)

303 - other 785 850

203 Net finance (income) expense 292 166

 of which:

(229) - exchange rate differences and derivatives 63 19

(189) Net income (expense) from investments 488 817

 of which:

(159) -  gains on disposal of assets (33) (57)

(38) - impairments / revaluation of equity investments 506 896

(300) Income taxes (7) (72)

 of which:

976 - net impairment of deferred tax assets of Italian subsidiaries 880 170

(824) - other net tax refund

69 - deferred tax adjustment on PSAs

- net impairment of deferred tax assets of upstream business outside Italy 860 6

(521) - taxes on special items of operating profit (outside Italy) and other special items (1,747) (248)

2,078 Total special items of net profit (loss) 9,024 1,244

 Attributable to:

533 - non-controlling interest 353

1,545 - Eni’s shareholders 8,671 1,244
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in assisting investors to assess Eni’s capital structure 
and to analyze its sources of funds and investments in 
fixed assets and working capital. Management uses the 
summarized group balance sheet to calculate key ratios such 
as the proportion of net borrowings to shareholders’ equity 
(leverage) intended to evaluate whether Eni’s financing 
structure is sound and well-balanced.

Summarized Group Balance Sheet 

The Summarized Group Balance Sheet aggregates the 
amount of assets and liabilities derived from the statutory 
balance sheet in accordance with functional criteria which 
consider the enterprise conventionally divided into the 
three fundamental areas focusing on resource investments, 
operations and financing. Management believes that this 
summarized Group Balance Sheet is useful information 

(€ million) December 31, 2015 December 31, 2016 Change
Fixed assets    

Property,  plant and equipment 68,005 70,793 2,788
Inventories - Compulsory stock 909 1,184 275
Intangible assets 3,034 3,269 235
Equity-accounted investments and other investments 3,513 4,316 803
Receivables and securities held for operating purposes 2,273 1,932 (341)
Net payables related to capital expenditure (1,284) (1,765) (481)
 76,450 79,729 3,279

Net working capital  
Inventories 4,579 4,637 58
Trade receivables 12,616 11,186 (1,430)
Trade payables (9,605) (11,038) (1,433)
Tax payables and provisions for net deferred tax liabilities (4,137) (3,073) 1,064
Provisions (15,375) (13,896) 1,479
Other current assets and liabilities 1,827 1,171 (656)

 (10,095) (11,013) (918)
Provisions for employee post-retirement benefits (1,123) (868) 255
Discontinued operations and assets held for sale including related liabilities 9,048 14 (9,034)
CAPITAL EMPLOYED, NET 74,280 67,862 (6,418)
Eni shareholders’ equity 55,493 53,037 (2,456)
Non-controlling interest 1,916 49 (1,867)
Shareholders’ equity 57,409 53,086 (4,323)
Net borrowings 16,871 14,776 (2,095)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 74,280 67,862 (6,418)

The Summarized Group Balance Sheet was affected by the 
movement in the EUR/USD exchange rate, which determined an 
increase in net capital employed, total equity and net borrowings 
by €1,747 million, €1,198 million, and €549 million respectively. 
This was due to translation into euros of the financial statements of 
US-denominated subsidiaries reflecting a 3.2% depreciation of the 
euro against the US dollar (1 EUR= 1.054  USD at December 31, 2016 
compared to 1.089 at December 31, 2015).

Fixed assets (€79,729 million) increased by €3,279 million from 
December 31, 2015. The item “Property, plant and equipment” was 
up by €2,788 million mainly due to capital expenditure (€9,180 
million), positive currency movements and net asset impairments 
reversals (€475 million). These positives were offset by DD&A 
(€7,559 million), the write-off of exploration projects lacking the 
criteria for continuing to be capitalized and the write-off of the 

damaged units of the EST plant in Sannazzaro refinery (€350 
million). The increase in the item “Equity-accounted investments 
and other investments” of €803 million was due to the recognition 
as an equity-accounted investment of the stake of 30.55% retained 
in Saipem following loss of control over the former subsidiary and 
the pro-quota share capital increase of Saipem subscribed by for an 
overall amount of €1,614 million, net of losses incurred in the period. 

Net working capital was in negative territory at minus €11,013 
million and decreased by €918 million y-o-y driven by reduced 
trade receivables, due to better management of working capital 
and higher volume of trade receivables due beyond end of the 
reporting period which were transferred to factoring institution, as 
well as increased trade payables. Other current assets and liabilities 
decreased due mainly to the impairment of certain receivables 
in the E&P segment owed by certain NOCs, due to the expected 
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outcome of ongoing negotiations in relation to under-lifting position.
These negatives were partly offset by the decrease in tax payables 
and provisions for deferred taxes, reflecting lower provisions for 
current tax, driven by the reduction of taxable profit and E&P 
utilization of deferred tax liabilities relating to the impairment 
of under-lifting receivables, as well as the reduction in the risk 
provisions for the fulfilment of obligations.

Discontinued operations, assets held for sale including related 
liabilities (€14 million) decreased by €9,034 million due to the 
closing of the Saipem transaction and the divestment of fuel 
distribution activities in Eastern Europe.

(€ million) December 31, 2015 December 31, 2016 Change
Total debt: 27,793 27,239 (554)

 Short-term debt 8,396 6,675 (1,721)
 Long-term debt 19,397 20,564 1,167

Cash and cash equivalents (5,209) (5,674) (465)
Securities held for trading and other securities held for non-operating purposes (5,028) (6,404) (1,376)
Financing receivables for non-operating purposes (685) (385) 300
Net borrowings 16,871 14,776 (2,095)
Shareholders’ equity including non-controlling interest 57,409 53,086 (4,323)
Leverage 0.29 0.28 (0.01)

Leverage and net borrowings 

Eni evaluates its financial condition by reference to net borrowings, 
which is calculated as total finance debt less: cash, cash equivalents 
and certain very liquid investments not related to operations, 
including among others non operating financing receivables and 
securities not related to operations. Non-operating financing 
receivables consist of amounts due to Eni’s financing subsidiaries 
from banks and other financing institutions and amounts due to 
other subsidiaries from banks for investing purposes and deposits  
in escrow. Securities not related to operations consist primarily of 
government and corporate securities.

Shareholders’ equity including non-controlling interest was 
€53,086 million, down by €4,323 million from December 31, 
2015. This was due to the net loss of the year (€1,457 million), 
the de-recognition of Saipem non-controlling interest (€1,872 
million), as well as dividend distribution and other changes of 
€2,885 million (including the 2015 balance and the 2016 interim 
dividends paid to Eni’s shareholders amounting to €2,881 
million). These effects were partially offset by a positive change 
in the cash flow hedge reserve (€883 million) and positive 
foreign currency translation differences (€1,198 million). 

Leverage is a measure used by management to assess the 
Company’s level of indebtedness. It is calculated as a ratio of 
net borrowings which is calculated by excluding cash and cash 
equivalents and certain very liquid assets from financial debt 
to shareholders’ equity, including non-controlling interest. 
Management periodically reviews leverage in order to assess the 
soundness and efficiency of the Group balance sheet in terms of 
optimal mix between net borrowings and net equity, and to carry 
out benchmark analysis with industry standards.
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2014 (€ million) 2015 2016 Change
1,808 Net profit (loss) - continuing operations (7,399) (1,044) 6,355

 Adjustments to reconcile net profit (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:    
10,898 - depreciation, depletion and amortization and other non monetary items 17,216 7,773 (9,443)

(224) - net gains on disposal of assets (577) (48) 529
6,600 - dividends, interests, taxes and other changes 3,215 2,229 (986)
2,199 Changes in working capital related to operations 4,781 2,112 (2,669)

(6,812) Dividends received, taxes paid, interests (paid) received during the period (4,361) (3,349) 1,012
14,469 Net cash provided by operating activities - continuing operations 12,875 7,673 (5,202)

273 Net cash provided by operating activities - discontinued operations (1,226)  1,226
14,742 Net cash provided by operating activities 11,649 7,673 (3,976)

(11,178) Capital expenditure - continuing operations (10,741) (9,180) 1,561
(694) Capital expenditure - discontinued operations (561)  561

(11,872) Capital expenditure (11,302) (9,180) 2,122
(408) Investments and purchase of consolidated subsidiaries and businesses (228) (1,164) (936)

3,684 Disposals of consolidated subsidiaries, businesses, tangible and intangible assets 
and investments 2,258 1,054 (1,204)

435 Other cash flow related to capital expenditure, investments and disposals (1,351) 465 1,816
6,581 Free cash flow 1,026 (1,152) (2,178)
(414) New borrowings (repayment) of long-term finance debt (300) 5,271 5,571
(628) Changes in short and long-term financial debt 2,126 (766) (2,892)

(4,434) Dividends paid and changes in non-controlling interests and reserves (3,477) (2,885) 592

78 Effect of changes in consolidation, exchange differences and cash and cash equivalent 
related to discontinued operations (780) (3) 777

1,183 NET CASH FLOW (1,405) 465 1,870
13,544 Net cash provided by operating activities on a standalone basis 12,155 7,673 (4,482)

Change in net borrowings
	 	

2014 (€ million) 2015 2016 Change
6,581 Free cash flow 1,026 (1,152) (2,178)

(19) Net borrowings of acquired companies  
Net borrowings of divested companies 83 5,848 5,765

(850) Exchange differences on net borrowings and other changes (818) 284 1,102
(4,434) Dividends paid and changes in non-controlling interest and reserves (3,477) (2,885) 592

1,278 CHANGE IN NET BORROWINGS (3,186) 2,095 5,281

Summarized Group Cash Flow Statement 

Eni’s Summarized Group Cash Flow Statement derives from 
the statutory statement of cash flows. It enables investors to 
understand the link existing between changes in cash and cash 
equivalents (deriving from the statutory cash flows statement) 
and in net borrowings (deriving from the summarized cash 
flow statement) that occurred from the beginning of the 
period to the end of period. The measure enabling such a link is 
represented by the free cash flow which is the cash in excess 
of capital expenditure needs. Starting from free cash flow it 
is possible to determine either: (i) changes in cash and cash 
equivalents for the period by adding/deducting cash flows 

relating to financing debts/receivables (issuance/repayment 
of debt and receivables related to financing activities), 
shareholders’ equity (dividends paid, net repurchase of 
own shares, capital issuance) and the effect of changes in 
consolidation and of exchange rate differences; and (ii) change 
in net borrowings for the period by adding/deducting cash 
flows relating to shareholders’ equity and the effect of changes 
in consolidation and of exchange rate differences. The free 
cash flow and net cash provided by operating activities from 
continuing operations on a standalone basis are non-GAAP 
measures of financial performance.
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companies during the downturn, while global oil consumptions 
are expected to grow at a moderate pace. However, management 
has also evaluated the continuing risks and uncertainties 
inherent in such forecasts, including actual implementation of 
the production cuts announced by the OPEC, structural changes 
that have been affecting oil industry – e.g. the increase in oil 
supply following the U.S. tight oil revolution – the reduced impact 
of geopolitical crises and the greater role played by renewable 
energy sources, as well as risks associated with internationally-
agreed measures intended to reduce GHG. Based on this outlook, 
Eni’s management has slightly revised to 70 $/bbl from the 
previous 65 $/bbl its long-term price assumptions of the Brent 
crude oil marker utilized in the Group financial projections of the 
2017-2020 industrial plan and in evaluating recoverability of the 
carrying amounts of the Group’s oil and gas assets. In the 2015 
financial statements the adoption of a long-term oil price of  
65 $/bbl led to the recognition of impairment losses of €3.4 
billion post-tax at our oil&gas assets. Conversely, the upward 
revision of the long-term assumptions for Brent crude oil prices 
led to the reversal of previously recognized impairment losses 
for €1,005 million (post-tax).

Price fluctuations may have a material effect on the Group’s results 
of operations and cash flow. Lower oil prices from period to period 
negatively affect the Group’s consolidated results of operations and 
cash flow, because revenues are price sensitive; such current prices 
are reflected in revenues recognized in the Exploration & Production 
segment at the time of the price change, whereas expenses in this 
segment are either fixed or less sensitive to changes in crude oil 
prices than revenues. Eni estimates that its consolidated net profit 
and cash flow vary by approximately €0.2 billion for each one dollar 
change in the price of the Brent crude oil benchmark with respect 
to the price scenario assumed in Eni’s financial projections for 2017 
at 55 $/bbl.

In addition to the adverse effect on revenues, profitability and 
cash flow, lower oil and gas prices could result in debooking of 
proved reserves, if they become economically unviable in this 
type of environment, and asset impairments.

Depending on the significance and speed of a decrease in crude 
oil prices, Eni may also need to review investment decisions and 
the viability of development projects. Lower oil and gas prices 
over prolonged periods may also adversely affect Eni’s results 
of operations and cash flow and hence the funds available to 
finance expansion projects, further reducing the Company’s 
ability to grow future production and revenues. In addition, they 
may reduce returns from development projects, either planned 
or implemented, forcing the Company to reschedule, postpone 
or cancel development projects. The Group is currently planning 
a capital budget of approximately €31.6 billion in the next four 

The risks described below may have a material effect on our 
operational and financial performance. We invite our investors to 
consider these risks carefully.

Eni’s operating results and cash flow and future rate of growth 
are exposed to the effects of fluctuating prices of crude oil, 
natural gas, oil products and chemicals

Prices of oil and natural gas have a history of volatility due to 
many factors that are beyond Eni’s control. These factors include 
among other things:
-	 global and regional dynamics of oil and gas supply and 

demand. From mid-2014, the oil industry has been negatively 
affected by a sharp price downturn driven by global 
oversupplies and a slowdown in macroeconomic growth. Over 
this time span, the price of crude oil has lost approximately 
50% of its value. In 2016, after dropping below $30 per barrel 
(“bbl”), the price of Brent crude has staged a recovery to 
close at around $50 per barrel at year-end as a result of a 
less unfavorable supply-demand balance. This was helped by 
the agreement reached in late 2016 by producing countries 
belonging to the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting 
Countries (“OPEC”) and other non-member countries to cut 
the output. For the full year (“FY”) 2016, the benchmark Brent 
price averaged $43.7 per barrel, a reduction of approximately 
17% compared to 2015;

-	 global political developments, including sanctions imposed on 
certain producing countries and conflict situations;

-	 global economic and financial market conditions;
-	 the influence of the OPEC over world supply and therefore oil 

prices;
-	 prices and availability of alternative sources of energy  

(e.g., nuclear, coal and renewables);
-	 weather conditions;
-	 operational issues;
-	 governmental regulations and actions;
-	 success in development and deployment of new technologies 

for the recovery of crude oil and natural gas reserves and 
technological advances affecting energy consumption; and

-	 the effect of worldwide energy conservation and 
environmental protection efforts intended to reduce 
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions from human activities.

All these factors can affect the balance between global demand 
and supply for oil and prices of oil.

Management believes that the oil market will gradually recover 
in the medium-term. We foresee a better balance between 
demand and supply driven by the recently agreed OPEC cuts and 
the cooperation of other countries in curbing production and the 
effects of the reduced investments made by international oil 

Risk factors and uncertainties
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The Group’s results from its Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 
businesses are primarily dependent upon the supply and 
demand for refined and chemicals products and the associated 
margins on refined product and chemical products sales, with 
the impact of changes in oil prices on results of these segments 
being dependent upon the speed at which the prices of products 
adjust to reflect movements in oil prices.

Competition
There is strong competition worldwide, both within the oil 
industry and with other industries, to supply energy to the 
industrial, commercial and residential energy markets
Eni faces strong competition in each of its business segments.
In the current uncertain financial and economic environment, 
Eni expects that prices of energy commodities, in particular oil 
and gas, will be very volatile, with average prices and margins 
influenced by changes in the global supply and demand for 
energy, as well as in the market dynamics. This is likely to 
increase competition in all of Eni’s businesses, which may 
impact costs and margins. Competition affects licence costs 
and product prices, with a consequent effect on Eni’s margins 
and its market shares. Eni’s ability to remain competitive 
requires continuous focus on technological innovation, reducing 
unit costs and improving efficiency. It also depends on Eni’s 
ability to get access to new investment opportunities, both in 
Europe and worldwide.
-	 In the Exploration & Production segment, Eni faces 

competition from both international and State-owned oil 
companies for obtaining exploration and development 
rights, and developing and applying new technologies to 
maximize hydrocarbon recovery. Furthermore, Eni may 
face a competitive disadvantage because of its relatively 
smaller size compared to other international oil companies, 
particularly when bidding for large scale or capital intensive 
projects, and may be exposed to risk of obtaining lower 
cost savings in a deflationary environment compared to 
its larger competitors given its potentially smaller market 
power with respect to suppliers. If, because of those 
competitive pressures, Eni fails to obtain new exploration and 
development acreage, to apply and develop new technologies, 
and to control costs, its growth prospects and future results of 
operations and cash flow may be adversely affected.

-	 In the Gas & Power segment, Eni faces strong competition 
from gas and energy players to sell gas to the industrial 
segment, the thermoelectric sector and the retail customers 
both in the Italian market and in markets across Europe. 
Competition has been fuelled by ongoing weak trends 
in demand due to the downturn and macroeconomic 
uncertainties and continued oversupplies in the marketplace. 
These have been driven by rising production of LNG on global 
scale and inter-fuel competition. In the latest years the use of 
gas in gas-fired power plants has been negatively

	 affected by an increase use of coal in firing power plants due 
to cost advantages and a dramatic growth in the adoption of 
renewable sources of energy (photovoltaic and solar). The 
large-scale development of shale gas in the United States was 
another fundamental trend that aggravated the oversupply 
situation in Europe because many LNG projects that originally 

years, excluding expenditures associated with assets which the 
Group is planning to divest. This capital budget is significantly 
lower than the Group’s previous financial projections, down by 8% 
on a constant exchange rate basis, which reflect management’s 
approach to be more selective in its spending decisions in a 
low oil-price environment. In response to weakened oil and 
gas industry conditions and resulting revisions made to rating 
agency commodity price assumptions, lower commodity prices 
may also reduce the Group’s access to capital and lead to a 
downgrade or other negative rating action with respect to the 
Group’s credit rating by rating agencies, including Standard & 
Poor’s Ratings Services (“S&P”) and Moody’s Investor Services 
Inc. (“Moody’s”). These downgrades negatively affect the Group’s 
cost of capital, increase the Group’s financial expenses, and may 
limit the Group’s ability to access capital markets and execute 
aspects of the Group’s business plans. At the end of March 2016, 
both agencies lowered Eni’s long-term corporate credit rating  
(to BBB+ and Baa1, respectively).

Eni estimates that movements in oil prices affect approximately 
50% of Eni’s current production. The remaining portion of 
Eni’s current production is insulated from crude oil price 
movements considering that the Company’s property portfolio 
is characterized by a sizeable presence of production sharing 
contracts, where, due to the cost recovery mechanism, the 
Company is entitled to a larger number of barrels in case of 
a decline in crude oil prices. (See the specific risks of the 
Exploration & Production segment in “Risks associated with  
the exploration and production of oil and natural gas” below). 

Because of the above mentioned risks, an extended continuation 
of the current commodity price environment, or further declines 
in commodity prices, will materially and adversely affect the 
Group’s business prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations, cash flows, liquidity, ability to finance planned 
capital expenditures and commitments and may impact 
shareholder returns, including dividends and the share price.

In gas markets, price volatility reflects the dynamics of demand 
and supply for natural gas. In recent years, in the face of weak 
demand dynamics in Europe due to the economic downturn and 
competition from coal and renewable sources in the production 
of gas-fired power, gas supplies in Europe have continued to rise. 
Factors underlying this rise comprise the increased availability of 
liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) on a global scale, which in the future 
will be fuelled by an expected growth in LNG exports from the U.S. 
and the Asia-Pacific region, and volumes of contracted supplies 
of European gas wholesalers under long-term arrangements with 
take-or-pay clauses. See also the other trends described in the 
risk factors relating to Eni’s Gas & Power business below. The 
increased liquidity of European hubs has put significant downward 
pressure on spot prices. Eni expects those trends to continue in 
the foreseeable future due to a weak outlook for gas demand and 
continued oversupplies. If Eni fails to renegotiate its long-term gas 
supply contracts in order to make its gas competitive as market 
conditions evolve, its profitability and cash flow in the Gas & 
Power segment would be significantly further affected by current 
downward trends in gas prices.
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continuing competition due to the projections of moderate 
economic growth in Italy and Europe over the foreseeable 
future, also causing outside players to place excess 
production on the Italian market. The economics of the gas-
fired electricity business have dramatically changed over 
the latest few years due to ongoing competitive trends. Spot 
prices of electricity in the wholesale market across Europe 
decreased due to excess supplies driven by the growing 
production of electricity from renewable sources, which 
also benefit from governmental subsidies, and a recovery 
in the production of coal-fired electricity which was helped 
by a substantial reduction in the price of this fuel on the 
back of a massive oversupply of coal which occurred on a 
global scale. As a result of falling electricity prices, margins 
on the production of gas-fired electricity went into negative 
territory. Eni believes that the profitability outlook in this 
business will remain weak in the foreseeable future.

-	 In the Refining & Marketing segment, Eni faces strong 
competition both in industrial and in commercial activities. In 
2016 refining margins decreased by approximately 50% y-o-y 
due to overcapacity in Europe, global oversupplies and strong 
competition from cheaper products stream coming from more 
efficient refiners in the Middle East, in Asia and elsewhere. 
Looking forward, management believes that refining margins will 
remain under pressure in the foreseeable future and will hover 
around $4 per barrel in the next couple of years, level at which 
our refining business is currently barely profitable. In marketing, 
Eni faces the challenges of growing competition from operators 
without brands and large retailers, which leverage on the price 
awareness of final consumers to increase their market share.

-	 In the Chemical business, Eni faces strong competition from  
well-established international players and State-owned 
petrochemical companies, particularly in the most 
commoditized segments such as the production of basic 
petrochemical products and plastics. Many of those 
competitors based in the Far East and the Middle East are 
able to benefit from cost advantages due to scale, favorable 
environmental regulations, availability of cheap feedstock 
and proximity to end-markets. Excess capacity and sluggish 
economic growth in Europe have exacerbated competitive 
pressures with negative impacts on profitability. Furthermore, 
petrochemical producers based in the United States have 
regained market share, as their cost structure has become 
competitive due to the availability of cheap feedstock deriving 
from the production of domestic shale gas. The Company 
expects continuing margin pressures in its petrochemical 
segment in the foreseeable future as a result of those trends. 

Safety, security, environmental and other operational risks
The Group engages in the exploration and production of oil 
and natural gas, processing, transportation, and refining of 
crude oil, transport of natural gas, storage and distribution 
of petroleum products and the production of base chemicals, 
plastics and elastomers. By their nature, the Group’s operations 
expose Eni to a wide range of significant health, safety, security 
and environmental risks. The magnitude of these risks is 
influenced by the geographic range, operational diversity and 
technical complexity of Eni’s activities. Eni’s future results of 

targeted the U.S. market instead provided extra supply to the 
already saturated European sector. The continuing growth in 
the production of shale gas in the United States has increased 
global gas supplies. These market imbalances in Europe were 
exacerbated by the fact that throughout the last decade and 
up to a few years ago the market consensus projected that 
gas demand in the continent would grow steadily until 2020 
and beyond, driven by economic growth and the increased 
adoption of gas in firing power production. European gas 
wholesalers including Eni committed to purchasing large 
amounts of gas under long-term supply contracts with 
so-called “take-or-pay” clauses from the main producing 
countries bordering Europe (namely Russia, the Netherlands, 
Norway and Algeria). They also made significant capital 
expenditures to upgrade existing pipelines and to build new 
infrastructures in order to expand gas import capacity to 
continental markets. Long-term gas supply contracts with 
take-or-pay clauses expose gas wholesalers to a volume risk, 
as they are contractually required to purchase minimum 
annual amounts of gas or, in case of failure, to pay the 
underlying price. Due to the trends described above of the 
prolonged economic downturn and inter-fuel competition, 
the projected increases in gas demand failed to materialize, 
resulting in a situation of oversupply and pricing pressure. 

	 As demand contracted across Europe, gas supplies increased, 
thus driving the development of very liquid continental hubs to 
trade spot gas. Spot prices at continental hubs have become 
the main benchmarks to which selling prices are indexed 
across all end-markets, including large industrial customers, 
thermoelectric utilities and the retail segment. The profitability 
of gas operators was negatively impacted by falling sales 
prices at those hubs, where prices have been pressured 
by intense competition among gas operators in the face of 
weak demand, oversupplies and the constraint to dispose of 
minimum annual volumes of gas to be purchased under  
long-term supply contracts. Eni does not expect any 
significant improvement in the European gas sector in the 
near future. We are currently projecting weak gas demand 
trends due to macroeconomic uncertainties and unclear EU 
policies regarding how to satisfy energy demand in Europe 
and the energy mix. Additionally, supplies at continental 
hubs will continue to build given the expected ramp-up of 
LNG exports from the United States due to steady growth 
in gas production and ongoing projects to reconvert LNG 
regasification facilities into liquefaction export units and 
the start of several LNG projects in the Pacific region and 
elsewhere. Eni believes that these ongoing negative trends 
may adversely affect the Company’s future results of 
operations and cash flows, also taking into account the 
Company’s contractual obligations to off-take minimum 
annual volumes of gas in accordance with its long-term gas 
supply contracts with take-or-pay clauses.

-	 In its Gas & Power segment, Eni is vertically integrated in 
the production of electricity via its gas-fired power plants, 
which currently use the combined-cycle technology. In the 
electricity business, Eni competes with other producers 
and traders from Italy or outside Italy who sell electricity 
in the Italian market. Going forward, the Company expects 



Risk factors and uncertainties

Financial review and other information Eni Integrated Annual Report74

and policies; and to respond to and learn from unexpected 
incidents. Eni seeks to minimize these operational risks by 
carefully designing and building facilities, including wells, 
industrial complexes, plants and equipment, pipelines, storage 
sites and distribution networks, and managing its operations 
in a safe, compliant and reliable manner. Failure to manage 
these risks could effectively result in unexpected incidents, 
including releases or oil spills, blowouts, fire, mechanical failures 
and other incidents resulting in personal injury, loss of life, 
environmental damage, legal liabilities and/or damage claims, 
destruction of crude oil or natural gas wells, as well as damage 
to equipment and other property, all of which could lead to a 
disruption in operations.

In December 2016, an incident occurred at our Eni Slurry 
Technology unit located in the refinery of Sannazzaro where a 
fire due to a mechanical fault partially damaged the plant. We 
recorded a plant write-off of €193 million and a provision for site 
dismantling and cleanup of €24 million. We did not identify any 
environmental provision as of the date of this Annual Report. 
Considering that the value of the plant was partially insured with 
third parties, the Group loss related to the accident amounted to 
€95 million.

Eni’s operations are often conducted in difficult and/or 
environmentally sensitive locations such as the Gulf of 
Mexico, the Caspian Sea and the Arctic. In such locations, the 
consequences of any incident could be greater than in other 
locations. Eni also faces risks once production is discontinued, 
because Eni’s activities require decommissioning of productive 
infrastructure and environmental site remediation. Furthermore, 
in certain situations where Eni is not the operator, the Company 
may have limited influence and control over third parties, which 
may limit its ability to manage and control such risks.

Eni retains worldwide third-party liability insurance coverage 
for all of its subsidiaries, which is designated to hedge part of 
the liabilities associated with damage to third parties, loss of 
value to the Group’s assets related to unfavorable events and 
in connection with environmental cleanup and remediation. 
Particularly, Eni’s entities are insured against liabilities for 
damage to third parties and environmental claims up to $1.2 
billion in case of offshore incident and $1.4 billion in case 
of incident at onshore facilities (refineries). In addition, the 
Company may also activate further insurance coverage in 
case of specific capital projects and other industrial initiatives. 
Management believes that its insurance coverage is in line with 
industry practice and is sufficient to cover normal risks in its 
operations. However, the Company is not insured against all 
potential risks. In the event of a major environmental disaster, 
such as the incident which occurred at the Macondo well in 
the Gulf of Mexico few years ago, for example, Eni’s third-party 
liability insurance would not provide any material coverage and 
thus the Company’s liability would far exceed the maximum 
coverage provided by its insurance. The loss Eni could suffer in 
the event of such a disaster would depend on all the facts and 
circumstances of the event and would be subject to a whole 

operations and liquidity depend on its ability to identify and 
mitigate the risks and hazards inherent to operating in those 
industries.

In the Exploration & Production segment, Eni faces natural 
hazards and other operational risks including those relating 
to the physical characteristics of oil and natural gas fields. 
These include the risks of eruptions of crude oil or of natural 
gas, discovery of hydrocarbon pockets with abnormal 
pressure, crumbling of well openings, leaks that can harm the 
environment and the security of Eni’s personnel and risks of 
blowout, fire or explosion. Accidents at a single well can lead to 
loss of life, damage or destruction to properties, environmental 
damage, GHG emissions and consequently potential economic 
losses that could have a material and adverse effect on the 
business, results of operations, liquidity, reputation and 
prospects of the Group, including its share price and dividends.

Eni’s activities in the Refining & Marketing business entail 
health, safety and environmental risks related to the handling, 
transformation and distribution of oil and oil products. These 
risks arise from the inherent characteristics of hydrocarbons, in 
particular flammability and toxicity. Also environmental risks are 
involved in the use of oil products, such as GHG emissions, soil 
and groundwater contamination.

Eni’s activities in the Refining & Marketing and Chemical 
segment also entail health, safety and environmental risks 
related to the overall life cycle of the products manufactured, 
and to raw materials used in the manufacturing process, 
such as oil-based feedstock, catalysts, additives and 
monomer feedstock. These risks can arise from the intrinsic 
characteristics of the products involved (flammability, toxicity, 
or long-term environmental impact such as greenhouse 
gas emissions and risks of various forms of pollution and 
contamination of the soil and the groundwater), their use, 
emissions and discharges resulting from their manufacturing 
process, and from recycling or disposing of materials and 
wastes at the end of their useful life.

All of Eni’s segments of operations involve, to varying degrees, 
the transportation of hydrocarbons. Risks in transportation 
activities depend both on the hazardous nature of the 
products transported, and on the transportation methods 
used (mainly pipelines, shipping, river freight, rail, road and 
gas distribution networks), the volumes involved and the 
sensitivity of the regions through which the transport passes 
(quality of infrastructure, population density, environmental 
considerations). All modes of transportation of hydrocarbons 
are particularly susceptible to a loss of containment of 
hydrocarbons and other hazardous materials, and, given the 
high volumes involved, could present a significant risk to people 
and the environment.
The Company invests significant resources in order to upgrade 
the methods and systems for safeguarding the safety and 
health of employees, contractors and communities, and the 
environment; to prevent risks; to comply with applicable laws 
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Exploratory drilling efforts may be unsuccessful
Exploration drilling for oil and gas involves numerous risks 
including the risk of dry holes or failure to find commercial 
quantities of hydrocarbons. The costs of drilling, completing 
and operating wells have margins of uncertainty, and drilling 
operations may be unsuccessful because of a large variety 
of factors, including geological failure, unexpected drilling 
conditions, pressure or heterogeneities in formations, 
equipment failures, well control (blowouts) and other forms 
of accidents, and shortages or delays in the delivery of 
equipment. The Company also engages in exploration drilling 
activities offshore, including in deep and ultra-deep waters, 
in remote areas and in environmentally sensitive locations 
(such as the Barents Sea). In these locations, the Company 
generally experiences more challenging conditions and incurs 
higher exploration costs than onshore or in shallow waters. 
Failure to discover commercial quantities of oil and natural 
gas could have an adverse impact on Eni’s future growth 
prospects, results of operations and liquidity. Because Eni 
plans to make investments in executing exploration projects, 
it is likely that the Company will incur significant amounts of 
dry hole expenses in future years. Some of these activities 
are high-risk projects that generally involve sizeable plays 
located in deep and ultra-deep waters or at higher depths where 
operations are more challenging and costly than in other areas. 
Furthermore, deep and ultra-deep water operations will require 
significant time before commercial production of discovered 
reserves can commence, increasing both the operational and 
financial risks associated with these activities. In 2016 Eni 
invested approximately €0.42 billion in exploration projects. 
The Company plans to invest €2.1 billion in the four-year plan 
2017-2020 and to execute exploration projects in the Norwegian 
Barents Sea, North and West Africa (Nigeria, Egypt, Libya, 
Congo, Gabon, Angola and Morocco), East Africa (Mozambique, 
Kenya and South-East Asia (Indonesia, Vietnam, Myanmar and 
other locations), the United Kingdom, offshore Gulf of Mexico 
and offshore Cyprus.
Planned projects will be equally split between low-risk initiatives, 
involving proven areas and the appraisal of recent discoveries, 
as well as high-risk plays targeting conventional hydrocarbons. 
Unsuccessful exploration activities and failure to discover 
additional commercial reserves could reduce future production 
of oil and natural gas, which is highly dependent on the rate of 
success of exploration projects.

Development projects bear significant operational risks, which 
may adversely affect actual returns
Eni is executing or is planning to execute several development 
projects to produce and market hydrocarbon reserves. Certain 
projects target the development of reserves in high-risk 
areas, particularly deep offshore and in remote and hostile 
environments or environmentally-sensitive locations. Eni’s 
future results of operations and liquidity depend heavily on 
its ability to implement, develop and operate major projects as 
planned. Key factors that may affect the economics of these 
projects include:
-	 the outcome of negotiations with joint venture partners, 

range of uncertainties, including legal uncertainty as to the 
scope of liability for consequential damages, which may include 
economic damage not directly connected to the disaster.

The occurrence of the events mentioned above could have a 
material adverse impact on the Group’s business, competitive 
position, cash flow, results of operations, liquidity, future growth 
prospects and shareholders’ returns and damage the Group’s 
reputation.

The Company cannot guarantee that it will not suffer any 
uninsured loss and there can be no guarantee, particularly in 
the case of a major environmental disaster or industrial accident, 
that such loss would not have a material adverse effect on the 
Company.

Risks associated with the exploration and production of oil and 
natural gas
The exploration and production of oil and natural gas require 
high levels of capital expenditures and are subject to natural 
hazards and other uncertainties, including those relating to the 
physical characteristics of oil and gas fields. The production 
of oil and natural gas is highly regulated and is subject to 
conditions imposed by governments throughout the world in 
matters such as the award of exploration and production leases, 
the imposition of specific drilling and other work obligations, 
income taxes and taxes on production, environmental protection 
measures, control over the development and abandonment of 
fields and installations, and restrictions on production.

A description of the main risks facing the Company’s business in 
the exploration and production of oil&gas is provided below.

Eni’s oil and natural gas offshore operations are particularly 
exposed to health, safety, security and environmental risks
Eni has material offshore operations relating to the exploration 
and production of hydrocarbons. In 2016, approximately 53% 
of Eni’s total oil and gas production for the year derived from 
offshore fields, mainly in Egypt, Libya, Norway, Italy, Angola, 
the Gulf of Mexico, Congo, the United Kingdom and Nigeria. 
Offshore operations in the oil and gas industry are inherently 
riskier than onshore activities. Offshore accidents and spills 
could cause damage of catastrophic proportions to the 
ecosystem and health and security of people due to objective 
difficulties in handling hydrocarbons containment, pollution, 
poisoning of water and organisms, length and complexity 
of cleaning operations and other factors. Further, offshore 
operations are subject to marine risks, including storms and 
other adverse weather conditions and vessel collisions, as well 
as interruptions or termination by governmental authorities 
based on safety, environmental and other considerations. 
Failure to manage these risks could result in injury or loss of 
life, damage to property or environmental damage, and could 
result in regulatory action, legal liability, loss of revenues 
and damage to Eni’s reputation and could have a material 
adverse effect on Eni’s operations, results, liquidity, reputation, 
business prospects and the share price.
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and commissioning related facilities. As a consequence, 
rates of return for such long leadtime projects are exposed 
to the volatility of oil and gas prices and costs which may be 
substantially different from the prices and costs assumed 
when the investment decision was actually made, leading 
to lower rates of return. In addition, projects executed with 
partners and joint venture partners reduce the ability of 
the Company to manage risks and costs, and Eni could 
have limited influence over and control of the operations 
and performance of its partners. Furthermore, Eni may not 
have full operational control of the joint ventures in which it 
participates and may have exposure to counterparty credit 
risk and disruption of operations and strategic objectives due 
to the nature of its relationships.

Finally, if the Company is unable to develop and operate 
major projects as planned, particularly if the Company fails to 
accomplish budgeted costs and time schedules, it could incur 
significant impairment losses of capitalized costs associated 
with reduced future cash flows of those projects.

Inability to replace oil and natural gas reserves could adversely 
impact results of operations and financial condition
Eni’s results of operations and financial condition are 
substantially dependent on its ability to develop and sell oil and 
natural gas. Unless the Company is able to replace produced 
oil and natural gas, its reserves will decline. In addition to 
being a function of production, revisions and new discoveries, 
the Company’s reserve replacement is also affected by the 
entitlement mechanism in its production sharing agreements 
(“PSAs”) and similar contractual schemes. Pursuant to these 
contracts, Eni is entitled to a portion of a field’s reserves, the 
sale of which is intended to cover expenditures incurred by 
the Company to develop and operate the field. The higher the 
reference prices for Brent crude oil used to estimate Eni’s proved 
reserves, the lower the number of barrels necessary to recover 
the same amount of expenditure. The opposite occurs in case 
of lower oil prices. Future oil and gas production is dependent 
on the Company’s ability to access new reserves through new 
discoveries, application of improved techniques, success in 
development activity, negotiation with national oil companies 
and other entities owners of known reserves and acquisitions. 
In a number of reserve-rich countries, national oil companies 
decide to develop portions of oil and gas reserves that remain to 
be developed. To the extent that national oil companies decide to 
develop those reserves without the participation of international 
oil companies or if the Company fails to establish partnership 
with national oil companies, Eni’s ability to access or develop 
additional reserves will be limited.

An inability to replace produced reserves by finding, acquiring 
and developing additional reserves could adversely impact 
future production levels and growth prospects. If Eni is 
unsuccessful in meeting its long-term targets of production 
growth and reserve replacement, Eni’s future total proved 
reserves and production will decline and this will negatively 
affect future results of operations, cash flow and business 
prospects.

governments and state-owned companies, suppliers, 
customers or others, including, for example, Eni’s ability 
to negotiate favourable long-term contracts to market gas 
reserves;

-	 commercial arrangements for pipelines and related equipment 
to transport and market hydrocarbons;

-	 timely issuance of permits and licences by government 
agencies;

-	 the Company’s relative size compared to its main competitors 
which may prevent it from participating in large-scale projects 
or affect its ability to reap benefits associated with economies 
of scale;

-	 the ability to carefully carry out front-end engineering design 
so as to prevent the occurrence of technical inconvenience 
during the execution phase;

-	 timely manufacturing and delivery of critical equipment by 
contractors, shortages in the availability of such equipment 
or lack of shipping yards where complex offshore units such 
as FPSO and platforms are built; these events may cause 
cost overruns and delays impacting the time-to-market of the 
reserves;

-	 risks associated with the use of new technologies and the 
inability to develop advanced technologies to maximize  
the recoverability rate of hydrocarbons or gain access  
to previously inaccessible reservoirs;

-	 poor performance in project execution on the part of 
contractors who are awarded project construction activities 
generally based on the EPC (Engineering, Procurement and 
Construction) – turn key contractual scheme. Eni believes this 
kind of risk may be due to lack of contractual flexibility, poor 
quality of front-end engineering design and commissioning 
delays;

-	 changes in operating conditions and cost overruns. In recent 
years, the industry has been adversely impacted by the 
growing complexity and scale of projects which drove cost 
increases and delays, including higher environmental and 
safety costs;

-	 the actual performance of the reservoir and natural field 
decline; and

-	 the ability and time necessary to build suitable transport 
infrastructures to export production to end markets.

Events such as the ones described above of poor project 
execution, inadequate front-end engineering design, delays 
in the achievement of critical events and project milestones, 
delays in the delivery of production facilities and other 
equipment by third parties, differences between scheduled 
and actual timing of the first oil, as well as cost overruns may 
adversely affect the economic returns of Eni’s development 
projects. Failure to deliver major projects on time and 
on budget could negatively affect results of operations, 
cash flow and the achievement of short-term targets of 
production growth. Finally, development and marketing of 
hydrocarbons reserves typically require several years after 
a discovery is made. This is because a development project 
involves an array of complex and lengthy activities, including 
appraising a discovery in order to evaluate its commercial 
potential, sanctioning a development project and building 
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and may not be ultimately developed or produced. Recovery of 
undeveloped reserves requires significant capital expenditures 
and successful drilling operations. The Group’s reserve 
estimates assume it can and will make these expenditures and 
conduct these operations successfully. These assumptions may 
not prove to be accurate. The Group’s reserve report at December 
31, 2016 includes estimates of total future development costs 
associated with the Group’s proved undeveloped reserves of 
approximately €39.4 billion (undiscounted). It cannot be certain 
the estimated costs of the development of these reserves are 
accurate, development will occur as scheduled, or the results of 
such development will be as estimated. In case of change in the 
Company’s development plans to develop of those reserves, or 
if it is not otherwise able to successfully develop these reserves 
as a result of the Group’s inability to fund necessary capital 
expenditures or otherwise, it will be required to remove the 
associated volumes from the Group’s reported proved reserves.

The present value of future net revenues from Eni’s proved 
reserves will not necessarily be the same as the current market 
value of Eni’s estimated crude oil and natural gas reserves 
and, in particular, may be reduced due to the recent significant 
decline in commodity prices
Investors should not assume the present value of future net 
revenues from Eni’s proved reserves is the current market 
value of Eni’s estimated crude oil and natural gas reserves. 
In accordance with U.S. SEC rules, Eni bases the estimated 
discounted future net revenues from proved reserves on the 
12-month un-weighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-
the-month commodity prices for the preceding twelve months. 
Actual future prices may be materially higher or lower than 
the U.S. SEC pricing used in the calculations. Actual future net 
revenues from crude oil and natural gas properties will be 
affected by factors such as:
-	 the actual prices Eni receives for sales of crude oil and natural gas;
-	 the actual cost and timing of development and production 

expenditures;
-	 the timing and amount of actual production; and
-	 changes in governmental regulations or taxation.
The timing of both Eni’s production and its incurrence of 
expenses in connection with the development and production 
of crude oil and natural gas properties will affect the timing and 
amount of actual future net revenues from proved reserves, and 
thus their actual present value. In addition, the 10 % discount 
factor Eni uses when calculating discounted future net revenues 
may not be the most appropriate discount factor based on 
interest rates in effect from time to time and risks associated 
with Eni’s reserves or the crude oil and natural gas industry in 
general.
 
At December 31, 2016, the net present value of Eni’s proved 
reserves totaled approximately €29.8 billion, calculated in 
accordance with the requirements of FASB Extractive Activities – 
Oil & Gas (Topic 932). This value was significantly lower than in 
2015 due to reduced commodity prices. The average price used 
to estimate Eni’s proved reserves and the net present value at 
December 31, 2016, as calculated in accordance with U.S. SEC 
rules, was 42.8 $/bbl for the Brent crude oil in comparison to 

Uncertainties in estimates of oil and natural gas reserves
Several uncertainties are inherent in estimating quantities of 
proved reserves and in projecting future rates of production and 
timing of development expenditures. The accuracy of proved 
reserve estimates depend on a number of factors, assumptions 
and variables, among which the most important are the 
following:
-	 the quality of available geological, technical and economic 

data and their interpretation and judgment;
-	 projections regarding future rates of production and costs  

and timing of development expenditures;
-	 changes in the prevailing tax rules, other government 

regulations and contractual conditions;
-	 results of drilling, testing and the actual production 

performance of Eni’s reservoirs after the date of the estimates 
which may drive substantial upward or downward revisions; and

-	 changes in oil and natural gas prices which could affect the 
quantities of Eni’s proved reserves since the estimates of 
reserves are based on prices and costs existing as of the 
date when these estimates are made. Lower oil prices or the 
projections of higher operating and development costs may 
impair the ability of the Company to economically produce 
reserves leading to downward reserve revisions.

Reserve estimates are subject to revisions as prices fluctuate 
due to the cost recovery mechanism under the Company’s PSAs 
and similar contractual schemes.
The prices used in calculating Eni’s estimated proved reserves 
are, in accordance with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “U.S. SEC”) requirements, calculated by 
determining the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-
of-the-month commodity prices for the 12-month period ending 
December 31, 2016. For the 12-month period ending December 
31, 2016, the average price was 42.8 $/bbl for the Brent crude 
oil in comparison to a price reference of 54 $/bbl in 2015. This 
decline in the price of crude oil triggered the downward revision 
of those reserves that have become uneconomic in this type 
of environment, amounting to approximately 76 mmBOE, net 
of higher reserve entitlement in certain PSA contracts due to 
the cost recovery mechanism: i.e. because of lower oil and gas 
prices, the reimbursement of expenditures incurred by the 
Company requires additional volumes of reserves.
Many of these factors, assumptions and variables involved in 
estimating proved reserves are subject to change over time and 
therefore affect the estimates of oil and natural gas reserves.
Accordingly, the estimated reserves reported as of the end of 
2016 could be significantly different from the quantities of oil 
and natural gas that will be ultimately recovered. Any downward 
revision in Eni’s estimated quantities of proved reserves would 
indicate lower future production volumes, which could adversely 
impact Eni’s results of operations and financial condition.

The development of the Group’s proved undeveloped reserves 
may take longer and may require higher levels of capital 
expenditures than it currently anticipates. The Group’s proved 
undeveloped reserves may not be ultimately developed or 
produced
At December 31, 2016, approximately 43% of the Group’s total 
estimated proved reserves (by volume) were undeveloped 
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-	 difficulties in finding qualified suppliers in critical operating 
environments; and

-	 complex processes of granting authorisations or licences 
affecting time-to-market of certain development projects.

Areas where Eni operates and where the Company is particularly 
exposed to political risk include, but are not limited to: Libya, 
Egypt, Algeria, Nigeria, Angola, Kazakhstan, Venezuela, Iraq and 
Russia. In addition, any possible reprisals because of military 
or other action, such as acts of terrorism in the United States 
or elsewhere, could have a material adverse effect on Eni’s 
business, results of operations and financial condition.

In 2011, Eni’s operations in Libya were materially affected by an 
internal revolution and a change of regime, which has led to a 
prolonged period of political and social instability characterized 
by acts of local conflict, social unrest, protests, strikes and 
other similar events. Those political developments forced Eni 
to temporarily interrupt or reduce its producing activities, 
negatively affecting Eni’s results of operations and cash flow 
until the situation began to stabilize. Although the Group’s 
production levels in Libya have returned to levels prior to the 
outbreak of the civil war, the geopolitical situation remains 
unstable and unpredictable. In 2016, Eni’s production in Libya 
was 346 kboe/day, the highest level since the outbreak of the 
civil war, which represented approximately 20% of the Group’s 
total production for the year.
Furthermore, Eni’s activities in Nigeria have been impacted in 
recent years by continuing episodes of theft, acts of sabotage and 
other similar disruptions, which have jeopardized the Company’s 
ability to conduct operations in full security, particularly in the 
onshore area of the Niger Delta. Eni expects that those risks will 
continue to affect Eni’s operations in those countries.
We have factored into our future production levels possible risks 
of unfavorable geopolitical developments in our main countries 
of extractive operations. Those risks include temporary 
production losses and disruptions in the Group’s operations 
in connection with, among other things, acts of war, sabotage, 
social unrest, clashes and other form of civil disorder. The 
contingency has been calculated as a haircut to the Group’s 
future production levels based on management’s appreciation of 
those risks, past experience and other considerations. However, 
this contingency does not cover worst-case developments 
and worst case events, which could determine a prolonged 
production shutdown.
Eni closely monitors political, social and economic risks of 
approximately 70 Countries in which it has invested or intends 
to invest, in order to evaluate the economic and financial return 
of certain projects and to selectively evaluate projects. While the 
occurrence of those events is unpredictable, the occurrence of any 
such events could adversely affect Eni’s results from operations, 
cash flow and business prospects, also including the counterparty 
risk arising from the financing exposure of Eni in case State-owned 
entities, which are party to Eni’s upstream projects for developing 
hydrocarbons, fail to reimburse due amounts.
In the current depressed environment for crude oil prices, the 
financial outlook of certain countries where Eni’s hydrocarbons 

54 $/bbl in 2015. Future prices may materially differ from those 
used in the Group’s year-end estimates.

Political considerations
A substantial portion of Eni’s oil and gas reserves and 
gas supplies are located in Countries outside the EU and 
North America, mainly in Africa, Central Asia and Central-
Southern America, where the socio-political framework and 
macroeconomic outlook is less stable than in the OECD 
Countries. In those less stable countries, Eni is exposed to a 
wide range of risks and uncertainties, which could materially 
impact the ability of the Company to conduct its operations in a 
safe, reliable and profitable manner.
As of December 31, 2016, approximately 85% of Eni’s proved 
hydrocarbon reserves were located in such countries and 60% of 
Eni’s supplies of natural gas came from outside OECD Countries. 
Adverse political, social and economic developments, such as 
internal conflicts, revolutions, establishment of non-democratic 
regimes, protests, strikes and other forms of civil disorder, 
contraction of economic activity and financial difficulties of the 
local governments with repercussions on the solvency of state 
institutions, inflation levels, exchange rates and similar events 
in those non-OECD Countries may negatively impair Eni’s ability 
to continue operating in an economic way, either temporarily or 
permanently, and Eni’s ability to access oil and gas reserves. 
In particular, Eni faces risks in connection with the following, 
possible issues:
-	 lack of well-established and reliable legal systems and 

uncertainties surrounding enforcement of contractual rights;
-	 unfavourable enforcement of laws, regulations and contractual 

arrangements leading, for example, to expropriations, 
nationalizations or forced divestitures of assets and unilateral 
cancellation or modification of contractual terms. Eni is facing 
increasing competition from State-owned oil companies 
who are partnering Eni in a number of oil and gas projects 
and properties in the host countries where Eni conducts its 
upstream operations. These State-owned oil companies can 
change contractual terms and other conditions of oil and gas 
projects in order to obtain a larger share of profit from a given 
project, thereby reducing Eni’s profit share. They can also 
render different interpretations of contractual clauses relating 
to the recovery of certain expenses incurred by the Company 
to produce hydrocarbons reserves in any given projects;

-	 restrictions on exploration, production, imports and exports;
-	 tax or royalty increases (including retroactive claims);
-	 political and social instability which could result in civil and 

social unrest, internal conflicts and other forms of protest 
and disorder such as strikes, riots, sabotage, acts of violence 
and similar incidents. These risks could result in disruptions 
to economic activity, loss of output, plant closures and 
shutdowns, project delays, the loss of personnel or assets. 
They may force Eni to evacuate personnel for security reasons 
and to increase spending on security. They may disrupt 
financial and commercial markets, including the supply of and 
pricing for oil and natural gas, and generate greater political 
and economic instability in some of the geographic areas in 
which Eni operates;
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restrictive measures that could be adopted by the relevant 
authorities.
 
Approximately 30% of Eni’s natural gas is supplied by Russia. 
These supplies are out of the reach of current sanctions. 
Furthermore, Eni is currently partnering the Russian company 
Rosneft in executing two exploration projects in the Russian 
sections of the Barents Sea and one in the Black Sea. The 
contracts pertaining to the above-mentioned exploration 
licenses were entered into before the enactment of the 
restrictive measures and the competent authorities of the 
relevant EU Member States waived contracts under execution 
when the sanctions were firstly enacted. The EU sanction regime 
has been extend until July 2017; however it is possible that it 
could change in relation to the evolution of the political situation 
in Ukraine.
It is possible that wider sanctions targeting the Russian energy, 
banking and/or finance industries may be implemented. Further 
sanctions imposed on Russia, Russian individuals or Russian 
companies by the international community, such as restrictions 
on purchases of Russian gas by European companies or 
measures restricting dealings with Russian counterparties, 
could adversely impact Eni’s business, results of operations and 
cash flow. Furthermore, an escalation of the international crisis, 
resulting in a tightening of sanctions, could entail a significant 
disruption of energy supply and trade flows globally, which could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial 
conditions, results of operations and future prospects.

Risks in the Company Gas & Power business
Risks associated with the trading environment and competition 
in the gas market
The outlook of the European gas market remains unfavorable 
due to oversupply, exacerbated by increased availability  
of liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) globally, and weak demand 
dynamics. Growth in gas demand has been dampened by 
sluggish macroeconomic activity in the Eurozone, the increasing 
use of renewable sources in the production of electricity and 
the competition from cheaper fossil fuels (like coal) in firing 
thermoelectric production. Looking forward, management does 
not expect any meaningful acceleration in gas demand growth 
in Italy and in Europe and is forecasting an average growth rate 
lower than 1% in Europe and Italy until 2020.

Against the backdrop of a deteriorating competitive environment, 
management has periodically renegotiated the Company’s 
long-term supply contracts with take-or-pay clauses, where 
the Company is obliged to offtake a contractually set minimum 
volume of gas supplies or, in case of failure, to pay the 
contractual price (see below). The renegotiation has allowed 
the Company to adjust the original oil-linked indexation 
mechanism of the purchase costs to market benchmarks at 
approximately 70% of the Company’s supply portfolio, ensuring 
better competitiveness for the Group’s gas. However, in spite of 
those measures, continuing cost efficiencies and other actions 
intended to boost margins, the Gas & Power business reported 
an operating loss of €391 million for the FY 2016.

reserves are located has significantly deteriorated due to lower 
proceeds from the exploitation of hydrocarbons resources.  
This trend has increased the risk of sovereign default, which may 
cause political and macroeconomic instability and trigger one 
or more of the above-mentioned risks. In addition, State-owned 
petroleum companies of those countries are exposed to liquidity 
risk. Eni is partnering with those national oil companies in 
executing certain oil and gas development projects or is currently 
selling its equity production to national oil companies. Financial 
difficulties of those national oil companies might jeopardize the 
financial feasibility of ongoing projects or increase the financial 
exposure of Eni, which is contractually obliged to finance the 
share of development expenditures of the partner company in 
case of a financial shortfall of the latter. This risk is mitigated 
by the default clause customary in such contracts, pursuant to 
which in case of a default, the non-defaulting party is entitled 
to compensate its claims with the share of production of the 
defaulting party. National oil companies may also delay the 
repayment of trade receivable due to Eni for the supply of 
equity hydrocarbons. In view of certain long-overdue exposures 
related to the supply of equity hydrocarbons, cost recovery 
and cash call to execute investments, certain of which were 
also disputed by our counterparties, the Group has entered into 
arrangements with a number of National Oil Companies. Those 
arrangements provide for the securitization of amounts due to 
Eni or repayment plans whereby Eni receivables are reimbursed 
in instalments with the proceeds of the sale of hydrocarbons 
produced in mineral initiatives operated by Eni or from elsewhere. 
Based on ongoing arrangements under discussion to recover 
part of the overdue amounts, the Group recognized a valuation 
allowance of approximately €0.41 billion. Furthermore, because 
the proceeds to reimburse Eni’s receivable will derive from the 
sale of hydrocarbons reserves yet to be developed, those future 
proceeds are subject to the mineral risk. In these circumstances, 
the Group recognized through profit the discount effect of those 
reimbursement plan utilizing a discount factor that factored in 
the mineral risk of underlying the reimbursement plan. In 2016, 
we incurred discount expense of approximately €0.13 billion. 
Furthermore, in 2016 we incurred losses on trade receivables 
and equity-accounted entities driven by the devaluation of local 
currencies for approximately €0.28 billion. It is possible that the 
Group may incur further losses in connection with its commercial 
and financial exposure towards certain NOCs of countries which 
are running wide current account deficits in case of an escalation 
of local financial crises. For a full description of our overdue trade 
and other receivables outstanding at year-end, see Note 11 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

An escalation of the political crisis in Russia and Ukraine could 
affect Eni’s business in particular and the global energy supply 
generally
In response to the Russia-Ukraine crisis, the European Union 
and the United States have enacted sanctions targeting, inter 
alia, the financial and energy sectors in Russia by restricting the 
supply of certain oil and gas items and services to Russia and 
certain forms of financing. Eni has adapted its activities to the 
applicable sanctions and will adapt its business to any further 
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gas in each year of the contractual term or, in case of failure, 
to pay the whole price, or a fraction of that price, up to the 
minimum contractual quantity. Similar considerations apply 
to ship-or-pay contractual obligations. Long-term gas supply 
contracts with take-or-pay clauses expose the Company to 
a volume risk, as the Company is contractually required to 
purchase minimum annual amounts of gas or, in case of failure, 
to pay the underlying price.

Looking forward, management believes that the current 
market outlook which will be negatively affected by continued 
oversupplies, weak demand growth, strong competitive pressures 
as well as any possible change in sector-specific regulation 
represents a risk to the Company’s ability to fulfill its minimum 
take obligations associated with its long-term supply contracts. 
In the medium-term, this risk will be mitigated by the expected 
reduction of the contractual minimum take, due to expiration of 
some contracts. In this scenario, management is committed to 
the renegotiation of long-term gas supply contract and to portfolio 
optimization, in order to reduce the exposure to take-or-pay 
contracts and to the related financial risk.
Thanks to contract renegotiations and effective selling activities, 
the Company lifted part of the underlying volumes, the purchase 
cost of which the Company advanced to its gas supplies in 
previous years due to the incurrence of the take-or-pay clause. 
By these means, the Company has achieved over the latest years 
a reduction in its deferred costs recorded in the balance sheet 
from €2.4 billion at the end of 2012, which was the bottom of the 
gas downturn, to approximately €0.3 billion as of 2016 year-end. 
Management plans to substantially finalize the recovery of the 
residual amounts of gas paid in advance in the next few years, 
fulfilling contractual clauses and recovering the prepaid amounts.

Environmental, health and safety regulations
Eni has incurred in the past, will continue incurring material 
operating expenses and expenditures, and is exposed to 
business risk in relation to compliance with applicable 
environmental, health and safety regulations in future years, 
including compliance with any national or international 
regulation on GHG emissions
Eni is subject to numerous EU, international, national, regional 
and local laws and regulations regarding the impact of its 
operations on the environment and health and safety of 
employees, contractors, communities and properties. Generally, 
these laws and regulations require acquisition of a permit 
before drilling for hydrocarbons may commence, restrict the 
types, quantities and concentration of various substances 
that can be released into the environment in connection with 
exploration, drilling and production activities, including refinery 
and petrochemical plant operations, limit or prohibit drilling 
activities in certain protected areas, require to remove and 
dismantle drilling platforms and other equipment and well 
plug-in once oil and gas operations have terminated, provide for 
measures to be taken to protect the safety of the workplace and 
health of communities involved by the Company’s activities, and 
impose criminal or civil liabilities for polluting the environment or 
harming employees’ or communities’ health and safety resulting 
from the Group’s operations.

Eni anticipates a number of risk factors to the profitability 
outlook of the Company’s gas marketing business over the 
four-year planning period. Those include continuing 
oversupplies, strong competition and the risk of deterioration in 
the spread of Italian spot prices versus continental benchmarks. 
Eni believes that those trends will negatively affect the gas 
marketing business future results of operations and cash 
flows by reducing gas selling prices and margins. Eni’s financial 
outlook has factored in the rigidities of the Company’s long-term 
supply contracts with take-or-pay clauses.

The main source of risk concerns Eni’s wholesale business, 
the results of which are exposed to the volatility of the spreads 
between spot prices at European hubs and Italian spot prices 
because the Group’s supply costs are mainly indexed to spot 
prices at European hubs, whereas a large part of the Group’s 
selling volumes are indexed to Italian spot prices.

Against this backdrop, Eni’s management will continue to 
execute its strategy of renegotiating the Company’s long-term 
gas supply contracts in order to align pricing and volume terms 
to current market conditions as they evolve. The revision clauses 
provided by these contracts state the right of each counterparty 
to renegotiate the economic terms and other contractual 
conditions periodically, in relation to ongoing changes in the gas 
scenario. In particular, management is planning to renegotiate 
its main long-term supply contracts over the plan period 
targeting to align supply costs to the expected dynamics in the 
outlet markets, which will allow the Company to recover logistics 
costs and G&A costs, targeting to achieve structural break-even.

Management believes that the outcome of those renegotiations 
is uncertain in respect of both the amount of the economic 
benefits that will be ultimately obtained and the timing of 
recognition of profit. Furthermore, in case Eni and the gas 
suppliers fail to agree on revised contractual terms, the claiming 
party has the ability to open an arbitration procedure to obtain 
revised contractual conditions. However, also the suppliers 
might file counterclaim with the arbitration panel seeking to 
dismiss Eni’s request for a price review. All these possible 
developments within renegotiation processes could possibly 
increase the level of risks and uncertainties relating the 
outcome of those renegotiations.

Current, negative trends in gas demands and supplies may 
impair the Company’s ability to fulfill its minimum off-take 
obligations in connection with its take-or-pay, long-term gas 
supply contracts
In order to secure long-term access to gas availability, particularly 
with a view to supplying the Italian gas market and anticipating 
certain trends in gas demand, which thus far have failed to 
materialize, Eni has signed a number of long-term gas supply 
contracts with national operators of certain key producing 
countries. Most of European gas supplies are sourced from those 
countries (Russia, Algeria, Libya, the Netherlands and Norway).

These contracts include take-or-pay clauses whereby the 
Company is required to off-take minimum, pre-set volumes of 
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As a further result of any new laws and regulations or other 
factors, Eni may also have to curtail, modify or cease certain 
operations or implement temporary shutdowns of facilities, 
which could diminish Eni’s productivity and materially and 
adversely impact Eni’s results of operations, including profits 
and cash flow. Security threats require continuous assessment 
and response measures. Acts of terrorism against Eni’s plants, 
installations, platforms and offices, pipelines, transportation 
or computer systems could severely disrupt businesses and 
operations and could cause harm to people and the environment.

Risks of environmental, health and safety incidents and 
liabilities are inherent in many of Eni’s operations and products. 
Although management believes that Eni adopts high operational 
standards to ensure safety in running its operations and 
safeguard of the environment and the health of employees, 
contractors and communities. Incidents like blowouts, oil spills, 
contaminations, pollution, and release in the air, soil and ground 
water of pollutants and other dangerous materials, liquids or 
gases, and other similar events could occur that would result in 
damage, also of large proportion and reach, to the environment, 
employees, contractors, communities and property. The 
occurrence of any such events could have a material adverse 
impact on the Group business, competitive position, cash 
flow, results of operations, liquidity, future growth prospects, 
shareholders’ return and damage to the Group reputation.

Eni has incurred in the past and may incur in the future material 
environmental liabilities in connection with the environmental 
impact of its past and present industrial activities. Eni is also 
exposed to claims under environmental regulations and, from 
time to time, such claims have been made against us. In Italy, 
environmental requirements and regulations typically impose 
strict liability. Strict liability means that in some situations Eni 
could be exposed to liability for clean-up and remediation costs, 
natural resource damage, and other damage as a result of Eni’s 
conduct of operations that was lawful at the time it occurred or 
the conduct of prior operators or other third parties. In addition, 
plaintiffs may seek to obtain compensation for damage resulting 
from events of contamination and pollution or in case the 
Company is found liable of violations of any environmental laws 
or regulations.

Eni has been sued from time to time for alleged environmental 
crimes and liabilities in relation to the majority of its proprietary 
areas in Italy where the Company has conducted industrial 
operations over the years. Many of these proceedings are 
currently underway. The majority of those potential liabilities 
relate to certain industrial activities that the Company disposed 
of, liquidated, closed or shut down in prior years where Group 
products were produced, processed, stored, distributed or sold, 
such as chemical plants, mineral-metallurgic plants, refineries 
and other facilities. At those industrial hubs, Eni has undertaken 
a number of initiatives to restore and clean-up proprietary or 
concession areas that were allegedly contaminated and polluted 
by the Group’s industrial activities. The Group believes that it 
cannot be held liable for contaminations which occurred in 
past years (as permitted by applicable regulations in case of 

These laws and regulations also regulate emissions of 
substances and pollutants, handling of hazardous materials and 
discharges to surface and subsurface of water resulting from the 
operation of oil and natural gas extraction and processing plants, 
petrochemical plants, refineries, service stations, vessels, oil 
carriers, pipeline systems and other facilities owned by Eni. In 
addition, Eni’s operations are subject to laws and regulations 
relating to the production, handling, transportation, storage, 
disposal and treatment of waste materials.
 
Breaches of environmental, health and safety laws expose 
the Company’s employees to criminal and civil liability and 
the Company to the incurrence of liabilities associated with 
compensation for environmental, health or safety damage, 
as well as damage to its reputation. Additionally, in the case 
of violation of certain rules regarding the safeguard of the 
environment and safety in the workplace, the Company can be 
liable for negligent or willful conduct on part of its employees as 
per Italian Law Decree No. 231/2001.

Environmental, health and safety laws and regulations have a 
substantial impact on Eni’s operations. Management expects 
that the Group will continue to incur significant amounts of 
operating expenses and expenditures in the foreseeable future 
to comply with laws and regulations and to safeguard the 
environment, safety in the workplace, health of employees, 
contractors and communities involved by the Company 
operations, including:
-	 costs to prevent, control, eliminate or reduce certain 

types of air and water emissions and handle waste and 
other hazardous materials, including the costs incurred in 
connection with governmental action to address climate 
change;

-	 remedial and cleanup measures related to environmental 
contamination or accidents at various sites, including those 
owned by third parties (see discussion below);

-	 damage compensation claimed by individuals and entities, 
including local, regional or state administrations, in case Eni 
causes any kind of accident, oil spill, well blow-outs, pollution, 
contamination, emission of GHG above permitted levels or 
of other hazardous gases or other environmental liability as 
a result of its operations or the Company is found guilty of 
violating environmental laws and regulations; and

-	 costs in connection with the decommissioning and removal of 
drilling platforms and other facilities, and well plugging.

Furthermore, in the countries where Eni operates or expects 
to operate in the near future, new laws and regulations, the 
imposition of tougher licence requirements, increasingly 
strict enforcement or new interpretations of existing laws 
and regulations or the discovery of previously unknown 
contamination may also cause Eni to incur material costs 
resulting from actions taken to comply with such laws and 
regulations, including:
-	 modifying operations;
-	 installing pollution control equipment;
-	 implementing additional safety measures; and
-	 performing site cleanups.
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energy source, represented 48% of Eni’s production in 2016 on 
available-for-sale basis; as of December 31, 2016, gas reserves 
represented approximately 51% of our total proved reserves of 
our subsidiary undertakings.

In December 2015, a global climate agreement involving 
195 Countries was reached in Paris at the 21st Conference of 
Parties organized by the United Nations under the Framework 
Convention on Climate Change. The Agreement has set the goal 
to limit well below the 2°C the increase in global temperature 
compared to pre-industrial parameters. On November 4, 2016, 
the Paris Agreement was ratified. However, the voluntary 
commitments taken by the ratifying countries are insufficient 
to reach the 2°C goal. Nonetheless, the agreement may result 
in increased political pressure worldwide to adopt measures 
intended to reduce and monitor GHG emissions and may spur 
further initiatives aimed at reducing GHG emissions in the future.
 
Changes in environmental requirements related to GHG 
and climate change may negatively impact demand for oil 
and natural gas and production may decline as a result 
of environmental requirements targeting the reduction of 
GHG emissions (including land use policies responsive to 
environmental concerns). State, national, and international 
governments and agencies have been evaluating climate-related 
legislation and other regulatory initiatives that would restrict 
emissions of GHG in areas in which Eni conducts business. 
Because Eni’s business depends on the global demand for oil 
and natural gas, existing or future laws, regulations, treaties, 
or international agreements related to GHG and climate change, 
including incentives to preserve energy or use alternative 
energy sources, could have a negative impact on Eni’s business 
if such laws, regulations, treaties, or international agreements 
reduce the worldwide demand for oil and natural gas. Some 
governments have introduced carbon pricing mechanisms, 
which can be an effective measure to reduce GHG emissions 
across the economy at lowest overall cost to society. We expect 
more governments to follow and governments may also require 
companies to apply technical measures to reduce their GHG 
emissions. These latter may result in additional compliance 
obligations with respect to the release, capture, sequestration, 
and use of carbon dioxide that could result in increased 
investments and higher project costs for us and could have a 
material adverse effect on Eni’s liquidity, consolidated results of 
operations, and consolidated financial condition.

The adoption and implementation of regulations that require 
reporting of GHG or otherwise limit emissions of GHG from the 
Group’s equipment and operations could require us to incur 
costs to monitor and report on GHG emissions or install new 
equipment to reduce emissions of GHG associated with the 
Group’s operations.

Our portfolio exposure is reviewed annually against changing 
GHG regulatory regimes and physical conditions to identify 
emerging risks. To test the resilience of new projects, we assess 
potential costs associated with GHG emissions when evaluating 
all new capital projects. Our approach applies a uniform cost of 

declaration rendered by a guiltless owner i.e. as a result of Eni’s 
conduct that was lawful at the time it occurred) or because Eni 
took over operations from third parties. However, state or local 
public administrations have sued Eni for environmental and 
other damages and for clean-up and remediation measures in 
addition to those which were performed by the Company, or 
which the Company committed to perform.

Eni expects remedial and clean-up activities at Eni’s dismantled 
sites to continue in the foreseeable future impacting Eni’s 
liquidity. The Group has accrued risk provisions to cope with 
all existing environmental liabilities whereby both a legal or 
constructive obligation to perform a clean-up or other remedial 
actions is in place and the associated costs can be reasonably 
estimated. The accrued amounts represent the management’s 
best estimates of the Company’s existing liabilities for 
environmental and associated matters.

Management believes that it is possible that in the future 
Eni may incur significant environmental expenses and 
liabilities in addition to the amounts already accrued due to: 
(i) the likelihood of as yet unknown contamination; (ii) the 
results of ongoing surveys or surveys to be carried out on 
the environmental status of certain of Eni’s industrial sites as 
required by the applicable regulations on contaminated sites; 
(iii) unfavourable developments in ongoing litigation on the 
environmental status of certain of the Company’s sites where 
a number of public administrations and the Italian Ministry 
of the Environment act as plaintiffs; (iv) the possibility that 
new litigation might arise; (v) the probability that new and 
stricter environmental laws might be implemented; and (vi) 
the circumstance that the extent and cost of environmental 
restoration and remediation programs are often inherently 
difficult to estimate leading to underestimation of the future 
costs of remediation and restoration, as well as unforeseen 
adverse developments both in the final remediation costs and 
with respect to the final liability allocation among the various 
parties involved at the sites.

As a result of those risks, environmental liabilities could be 
substantial and could have a material adverse effect on Eni’s 
liquidity, results of operations, consolidated financial condition, 
business prospects, reputation and shareholders’ value, 
including dividends and the share price.

Laws and regulations related to climate change may adversely 
affect the Group’s businesses
Growing public concern in a number of countries over GHG 
emissions and climate change, as well as a multiplication of 
stricter regulations in this area, could adversely affect the 
Group’s businesses, increase its operating costs and reduce its 
profitability.

The scientific community has established a link between climate 
change and increasing GHG emissions. The worldwide goal to 
limit global warming has led to the need to gradually reduce 
fossil fuel use notably through the diversification of the energy 
mix. The share of natural gas, the least GHG-emitting fossil 
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such as increased frequency and severity of storms, droughts, 
floods or other climatic events. If any such effects were to occur 
because of climate change or otherwise, they could have an 
adverse effect on the Group’s assets and operations.

Risks related to legal proceedings and compliance with 
anti-corruption legislation
Eni is the defendant in a number of civil actions and 
administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of 
business. In addition to existing provisions accrued as of the 
latest balance sheet date to account for ongoing proceedings, it 
is possible that in future years Eni may incur significant losses 
in addition to the amounts already accrued in connection with 
pending legal proceedings due to: (i) uncertainty regarding the 
final outcome of each proceeding; (ii) the occurrence of new 
developments that management could not take into consideration 
when evaluating the likely outcome of each proceeding in order 
to accrue the risk provisions as of the date of the latest financial 
statements; (iii) the emergence of new evidence and information; 
and (iv) underestimation of probable future losses due to the 
circumstance that they are often inherently difficult to estimate. 
Certain legal proceedings and investigations where Eni or its 
subsidiaries or its officers are parties involve the alleged breach 
of anti-corruption laws and regulations and ethical misconduct. 
Ethical misconduct and noncompliance with applicable laws 
and regulations, including non-compliance with anti-bribery and 
anticorruption laws, by Eni, its partners, agents or others that 
act on the Group’s behalf, could expose Eni and its employees 
to criminal and civil penalties and could be damaging to Eni’s 
reputation and shareholder value. See Note 38 – Guarantees, 
commitments and risks – Legal proceedings, in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Risks from acquisitions
Eni is constantly monitoring the oil and gas market in search of 
opportunities to acquire individual assets or companies with a 
view of achieving its growth targets or complementing its asset 
portfolio. Acquisitions entail an execution risk – the risk that the 
acquirer will not be able to effectively integrate the purchased 
assets so as to achieve expected synergies. In addition, 
acquisitions entail a financial risk – the risk of not being able to 
recover the purchase costs of acquired assets, in case a prolonged 
decline in the market prices of oil and natural gas occurs. Eni may 
also incur unanticipated costs or assume unexpected liabilities 
and losses in connection with companies or assets it acquires. 
If the integration and financial risks connected to acquisitions 
materialize, Eni’s financial performance and shareholders’ returns 
may be adversely affected.

Risks deriving from Eni’s exposure to weather conditions
Significant changes in weather conditions in Italy and in the rest 
of Europe from year to year may affect demand for natural gas 
and some refined products. In colder years, demand for such 
products is higher. Accordingly, the results of operations of the Gas 
& Power segment and, to a lesser extent, the Refining & Marketing 
business, as well as the comparability of results over different 
periods may be affected by such changes in weather conditions. 
In general, the effects of climate change could result in less stable 

€40 (real terms) per tonne of carbon dioxide (CO
2) equivalent 

to the total GHG emissions of each investment. This review 
has concluded that the internal rates of return of our ongoing 
projects will be only marginally affected by a carbon pricing 
mechanism. The project development process features a 
number of checks that may require development of detailed 
GHG and energy management plans. High-emitting projects 
undergo additional sensitivity testing, including the potential 
for future CCS projects. Projects in the most GHG-exposed 
asset classes have GHG intensity targets that reflect standards 
sufficient to allow them to compete and prosper in a more CO2 
regulated future. These processes can lead to projects being 
stopped, designs being changed, and potential GHG mitigation 
investments being identified, in preparation for when regulation 
would make these investments commercially compelling.

Furthermore, management has performed a review of the 
recoverability of the book values of the Company’s oil&gas 
assets under the assumptions of the International Energy 
Agency (IEA) 450 Scenario as updated in November 2016 (450s 
WEO 2016). This review has covered a panel of oil&gas CGUs, 
which were selected based on certain parameters, including 
amount of the capital employed, emission intensity, reserve life 
and other risk factors. Those CGUs represented approximately 
30% of the Group capital employed in the E&P segment. The 
IEA 450 Scenario sets out an energy pathway consistent with 
the goal of limiting the average global temperature increase to 
2°C. This is accomplished by seeking to limit the concentration 
of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere to around 450 parts 
per million of CO2 equivalent. By the year 2030, the IEA’s 
450 Scenario describes an energy sector with significant 
renewables penetration, marked improvement in vehicle as 
well as process efficiency, and widespread replacement of coal 
by natural gas in power generation. The IEA has assumed oil 
and gas prices in 2030 of around $113 per barrel and $12.5 
per MMbtu respectively, and global CO2 equivalent costs of 
$133 per tonne (all in nominal terms). The related impact on 
expected production is that global demand for oil would fall 
by 17% between 2015 and 2030, while demand for natural 
gas would grow by 8% during that period. The IEA’s projected 
GHG regulation and demand scenario are expected to result 
in lower demand for some of our products and potential albeit 
immaterial impairments to some of our less energy efficient 
assets. However, we could also see certain benefits as a robust 
global CO2 price would make some forms of energy, such as 
natural gas and renewables, more competitive compared with 
coal. Our preliminary view, looking at 2030, is that the aggregate 
impact under the IEA’s 450 Scenario would be positive overall 
for us compared with our own outlook. This is primarily due to 
the higher oil and gas prices assumed by the IEA. While the IEA 
assumes significant global CO2 costs of $133/tonne (in nominal 
terms) in 2030, our portfolio sensitivity to oil and gas prices 
exceeds our sensitivity to CO2 costs associated with our GHG 
emissions.
 
Finally, it should be noted some scientists have concluded that 
increasing concentrations of GHG in the Earth’s atmosphere may 
produce climate changes that have significant physical effects, 
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Various Group committees are in charge of defining internal 
criteria, guidelines and targets of risk management activities 
consistent with the strategy and limits defined at Eni’s top 
level, to be used by the Group’s business units, including 
monitoring and controlling activities. Although Eni believes it 
has established sound risk management procedures, trading 
activities involve elements of forecasting and Eni is exposed to 
the risks of market movements, of incurring significant losses 
if prices develop contrary to management expectations and of 
default of counterparties.

Exchange rate risk
Movements in the exchange rate of the euro against the U.S. 
dollar can have a material impact on Eni’s results of operations. 
Prices of oil, natural gas and refined products generally are 
denominated in, or linked to, U.S. dollars, while a significant 
portion of Eni’s expenses are incurred in euros. Accordingly, a 
depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the euro generally has 
an adverse impact on Eni’s results of operations and liquidity 
because it reduces booked revenues by an amount greater than 
the decrease in U.S. dollar-denominated expenses and may also 
result in significant translation adjustments that impact Eni’s 
shareholders’ equity. The Exploration & Production segment 
is particularly affected by movements in the U.S. dollar versus 
the euro exchange rates as the U.S. dollar is the functional 
currency of a large part of its foreign subsidiaries and therefore 
movements in the U.S. dollar versus the euro exchange rate 
affect year-on-year comparability of results of operations. 

Susceptibility to variations in sovereign rating risk
Eni’s credit ratings are potentially exposed to risk in 
reductions of sovereign credit rating of Italy. On the basis of 
the methodologies used by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s, a 
potential downgrade of Italy’s credit rating may have a potential 
knock-on effect on the credit rating of Italian issuers such as 
Eni and make it more likely that the credit rating of the Notes 
or other debt instruments issued by the Company could be 
downgraded.

Interest rate risk
Interest on Eni’s debt is primarily indexed at a spread to 
benchmark rates such as the Europe Interbank Offered Rate, 
“Euribor”, and the London Interbank Offered Rate, “Libor”. 
As a consequence, movements in interest rates can have a 
material impact on Eni’s finance expense in respect to its 
debt. Additionally, spreads offered to the Company may rise in 
connection with variations in sovereign rating risks or company 
rating risks, as well as the general conditions of capital markets.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that suitable sources of funding for 
the Group may not be available, or the Group is unable to sell 
its assets on the marketplace in order to meet short-term 
financial requirements and to settle obligations. Such a situation 
would negatively affect the Group results of operations and 
cash flows as it would result in Eni incurring higher borrowing 
expenses to meet its obligations or, under the worst conditions, 
the inability of Eni to continue as a going concern. European 

weather patterns, resulting in more severe storms and other 
weather conditions that could interfere with Eni’s operations and 
damage Eni’s facilities. Furthermore, Eni’s operations, particularly 
offshore production of oil and natural gas, are exposed to extreme 
weather phenomena that can result in material disruption to Eni’s 
operations and consequent loss or damage of properties and 
facilities, as well as a loss of output, revenues, maintenance and 
repair expenses and cash flow shortfall.

Eni’s crisis management systems may be ineffective 
Eni has developed contingency plans to continue or recover 
operations following a disruption or incident. An inability to 
restore or replace critical capacity to an agreed level within an 
agreed period could prolong the impact of any disruption and 
could severely affect business, operations and financial results. 
Eni has crisis management plans and capability to deal with 
emergencies at every level of its operations. If Eni does not 
respond or is not seen to respond in an appropriate manner to 
either an external or internal crisis, its business and operations 
could be severely disrupted with negative consequences on 
results of operations and cash flow.

Exposure to financial risk
Eni’s business activities are inherently exposed to financial risk. 
This includes exposure to market risk, including commodity 
price risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk, as well as 
liquidity risk, and credit risk.
Eni’s primary source of exposure to financial risk is the volatility 
in commodity prices. Generally, the Group does not hedge its 
strategic exposure to the commodity risk associated with its 
plans to find and develop oil and gas reserves, volume of gas 
purchased under its long-term gas purchase contracts, which 
are not covered by contracted sales, its refining margins and 
other activities. The Group’s risk management objectives in 
addressing commodity risk are to optimise the risk profile of 
its commercial activities by effectively managing economic 
margins and safeguarding the value of Eni assets. To achieve 
this, Eni engages in risk management activities seeking both to 
hedge Group’s exposures and to profit from short-term market 
opportunities and trading.
 
Eni is engaged in substantial trading and commercial activities 
in the physical markets. Eni also uses financial instruments 
such as futures, options, Over The Counter (OTC) forward 
contracts, market swaps and contracts for differences related to 
crude oil, petroleum products, natural gas and electricity in order 
to manage the commodity risk exposure. Eni also uses financial 
instruments to manage foreign exchange and interest rate risk.
The Group’s approach to risk management includes identifying, 
evaluating and managing the financial risk using a top-down 
approach whereby the Board of Directors is responsible for 
establishing the Group risk management strategy and setting 
the maximum tolerable amounts of risk exposure. The Group’s 
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for implementing the Group 
risk management strategy, while the Group’s Chief Financial 
Officer is in charge of defining policies and tools to manage the 
Group’s exposure to financial risk, as well as monitoring and 
reporting activities.
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liquidity reserves or its credit facilities is not sufficient to meet 
capital requirements, the failure to obtain additional financing 
could result in a curtailment of operations relating to development 
of Eni’s reserves, which in turn could adversely affect its business, 
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows and its 
ability to achieve its growth plans.

With respect to the 2017-2020 business plan in particular, 
management expects to deliver approximately €5-7 billion of 
additional cash flows from asset disposals, the main part of 
which will comprise the divestment of stakes in the Group’s 
exploration assets thereby in essence monetizing some 
of the Group’s recent exploration successes and reserves. 
These additional cash flows are intended to provide the Group 
with further financial flexibility in view of funding organic 
growth and the Group’s planned shareholder distributions in 
a manner consistent with the Group’s target capital structure. 
The Company is seeking to complete such disposals in large 
part within 2017. However, asset disposals are subject to 
execution risk and may fail to be completed, and the proceeds 
received from such disposals may not reflect valuations that 
management currently believes are achievable, particularly if 
the disposals are carried out in difficult market conditions. The 
failure to achieve the planned disposal program could negatively 
affect the achievement of the Group’s financial targets forcing 
us to either curtail capital expenditure thus hampering growth or 
take on more finance debt.

These factors could also negatively affect shareholders’ returns, 
including the amount of cash available for dividend distribution 
as well as the share price.

In addition, funding Eni’s capital expenditures with additional 
debt will increase its leverage and the issuance of additional 
debt will require a portion of Eni’s cash flows from operations 
to be used for the payment of interest and principal on its debt, 
thereby reducing its ability to use cash flows to fund capital 
expenditures and dividends.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential exposure of the Group to losses 
in case counterparties fail to perform or pay due amounts. 
Credit risks arise from both commercial partners and financial 
ones. In the latest years, the Group has experienced a level of 
counterparty default higher than in previous years due to the 
severity of the economic and financial downturn and the amount 
of trade receivables overdue at the balance sheet date has 
increased significantly. Furthermore, a collapse in oil prices has 
stressed the financial condition of many State-owned entities, 
which are party to the Group’s upstream projects for exploring 
and developing hydrocarbons or are buyers of Eni’s equity 
production. In the 2016 Consolidated Financial Statements, 
we accrued an allowance against doubtful trade accounts 
amounting to €503 million, mainly relating to the Gas & Power 
business segment in relation to Italian retail customers who 
were experiencing financial difficulties. Management believes 
that this business is particularly exposed to credit risk due 
to its large and diversified customer base, which includes a 

and global financial markets are currently subject to volatility 
amid uncertainties relating to a weak macroeconomic outlook, 
particularly in the Euro-zone, and the financial stress of certain 
emerging economies or countries whose financial conditions 
depends upon the proceeds of the sale of hydrocarbon resources 
following a prolonged slump in commodity prices. In the event 
of extended periods of constraints in the financial markets, or if 
Eni is unable to access the financial markets (including cases 
where this is due to Eni’s financial position or market sentiment 
as to Eni’s prospects) at a time when cash flows from Eni’s 
business operations may be under pressure, Eni’s ability to 
maintain Eni’s long-term investment program may be impacted 
with a consequent effect on Eni’s growth rate, and may impact 
shareholder returns, including dividends or share price.

The oil and gas industry is capital intensive. Eni makes and 
expects to continue to make substantial capital expenditures in 
its business for the exploration, development, exploitation and 
production of oil and natural gas reserves. The Company’s capital 
budget for the four-year plan 2017-2020 amounts to €31,6 
billion, net of capex associated with the planned asset disposals, 
and is significantly lower than the Group’s previous industrial 
plan (down by an estimated 8% at constant exchange rates) as 
a result of a planned reduction in spending prompted by weak 
commodity prices and a more selective approach to spending 
compared to the past. The Company has budgeted approximately 
€7.8 billion for capital expenditure in 2017, which is 18% lower 
than in 2016 at constant exchange rates. Management may 
find that additional reductions in Eni’s capital budget become 
necessary depending on market conditions.

Historically, Eni’s capital expenditures have been financed with 
cash generated by operations, proceeds from asset disposals, 
borrowings under its credit facilities and proceeds from the 
issuance of debt and bonds.

The actual amount and timing of future capital expenditures 
may differ materially from Eni’s estimates as a result of, among 
other things, changes in commodity prices, available cash flows, 
lack of access to capital, actual drilling results, the availability of 
drilling rigs and other services and equipment, the availability 
of transportation capacity, and regulatory, technological and 
competitive developments.
Eni’s cash flows from operations and access to capital markets 
are subject to a number of variables, including but not limited to:
-	 the amount of Eni’s proved reserves;
-	 the volume of crude oil and natural gas Eni is able to produce 

and sell from existing wells;
-	 the prices at which crude oil and natural gas are sold;
-	 Eni’s ability to acquire, find and produce new reserves; and
-	 the ability and willingness of Eni’s lenders to extend credit or 

of participants in the capital markets to invest in Eni’s bonds.

If revenues or Eni’s ability to borrow decrease significantly due to 
factors such as a prolonged decline in crude oil and natural gas 
prices, Eni might have limited ability to obtain the capital necessary 
to sustain its planned capital expenditures. If cash generated by 
operations, cash from asset disposals, or cash available under Eni’s 
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Digital infrastructure is an important part of maintaining 
Eni’s operations. A breach of Eni’s digital security could result 
in serious damage to business operations, personal injury, 
damage to assets, harm to the environment, breaches of 
regulations, litigation, legal liabilities and reparation costs
The reliability and security of Eni’s digital infrastructure is critical 
to maintaining the availability of Eni’s business applications, 
including the reliable operation of technology in Eni’s various 
business operations and the collection and processing of 
financial and operational data, as well as the confidentiality of 
certain third-party information. If Eni’s systems for protecting 
Eni’s digital security prove to be ineffective, either due to 
intentional actions such as cyber-attacks or negligence, Eni 
could be adversely affected by, among other things, loss or 
damage to intellectual property, proprietary information, or 
customer data, an interruption of business operations, and 
increased costs to prevent, respond to, or mitigate potential 
risks to Eni’s digital infrastructure. Furthermore, in some 
circumstances, failures to protect digital infrastructure could 
result in injury to people, damage to assets, harm to the 
environment, breaches of regulations, litigation, legal liabilities 
and reparation costs.

large number of medium and small-sized businesses and retail 
customers who have been particularly impacted by the financial 
and economic downturn. Eni believes that the management 
of doubtful accounts represents an issue to the Company, 
which will require management focus and commitment going 
forward. In the future Eni cannot exclude the recognition of 
significant provisions for doubtful accounts. Considering the 
deteriorated financial outlook of many oil-producing countries 
where Eni is conducting its upstream operations due to a 
prolonged decline in commodity prices, management is strictly 
monitoring exposure to the counterpart risk in its Exploration 
& Production (“E&P”) segment. The financial difficulties of 
certain countries also involve state-owned oil companies who 
are partnering Eni in the execution of development projects 
of hydrocarbons reserves or who are buying Eni’s share of 
production in joint projects. In 2016, we incurred approximately 
€0.5-0.6 billion of losses related to the expected outcome 
of certain renegotiations to settle disputed amounts or to 
establish repayment plans of certain overdue receivables owed 
by few National Oil Companies. Due to the prolonged financial 
downturn of certain countries hit by a fall in petroleum 
revenues, it is possible that the Group may incur further 
counterparty losses in the future. For further information see 
the paragraph “Political Considerations” above.
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- 	 Chemical products scenario: management expects a highly 
competitive trading environment pressured from import 
streams of products from Middle East and the United States, 
where operators can leverage on economies of scale and 
availability of cheaper feedstock. Margins in the businesses 
of polyethylene, intermediates and styrenes are foreseen to 
decrease. A positive scenario is expected for specialties, mainly 
elastomers. Sales volumes are expected to remain substantially 
unchanged.

In 2017, considering the uncertainty in future trends of the oil 
fundamentals, management will stick with its strategy 
of capital discipline by focusing on high-return projects, 
on near-field initiatives in explorations with accelerated paybacks, 
on re-phasing and rescheduling large projects. 
These initiatives will contribute to reduce capital spending at 
constant exchange rates coherently with 2017-2020 plan, 
representing a decrease of 8% compared to the previous plan at 
constant exchange rates.
 
Considering selective capital spending and the Company’s target 
of cash flows funding both capex and the floor dividend, the 
Group’s leverage at 2017 year-end is projected to decline from 
2016 thanks to the planned portfolio management initiatives, 
among which the sale of a 40% interest in the Zohr project.

Outlook

Management’s forecasts for the Group’s 2017 production and sale 
metrics are disclosed below:
- 	 Hydrocarbon production: management expects full-year 

production of 1,84 kboe/d increasing from 2016 due to new 
fields start-ups, mainly the Jangkrik gas project in Indonesia, 
the OCTP oil field in Ghana, the East Hub in Block 15/06 and 
Mafumeira in Angola, and the ramp-up of fields started up in 
2016 in Kazakhstan, Egypt, Angola, Congo and Norway;

- 	 Natural gas sales: against a backdrop of continuing oversupply, 
weak gas demand growth and strong competition, management 
expects gas sales to be in line with the reduction of the 
contractual minimum take of supply contracts. Management 
plans to retain its market share in the large customers and 
retail segments, also increasing the value of the existing 
customer base by developing innovative commercial initiatives, 
by integrating services to the supply of commodity and by 
optimizing operations and commercial activities;

- 	 Refinery intake on own account: refinery intakes are expected 
barely unchanged y-o-y;

- 	 Refined products sales in Italy and in the rest of Europe: in a 
context of strong competitive pressure, management expects 
to consolidate volumes and market share in the Italian retail 
market. This will be achieved by leveraging on competitive 
differentiation of the offer and the innovation of products and 
services. In the rest of Europe, sales are expected to remain 
stable, excluding the effects of asset disposals in Eastern 
Europe occurred in 2015 and 2016; 


